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4 FOREWORD

Foreword

COFIDES was founded in 1988 

with State and private capital for 

the purpose of co-financing pro-

ductive investments involving 

Spanish interests in emerging or 

developing countries. In addition to 

its own resources, COFIDES man-

ages two State funds: the Fund for 

Foreign Investment (FIEX) and the 

Fund for SME Foreign Investment 

Operations (FONPYME). These 

resources can be used to finance 

projects in any country in the world 

to further the internationalisation 

of Spanish enterprise and the na-

tional economy. Both funds are 

Ministry of Economy and Com-

petitiveness facilities channelled 

through its Secretary of State for 

Trade. COFIDES’ State sharehold-

ers include the Spanish Foreign 

Trade Institute (ICEX), the Official 

Credit Institute (ICO) and the na-

tional innovation company, Em-

presa Nacional de Innovación 

(ENISA), which together account 

for 61% of the company’s share 

capital. The remaining 39% is held 

privately, specifically by three fi-

nancial institutions, Banco Bil-

bao Vizcaya Argentaria (BBVA), 

Banco Santander and Banco de 

Sabadell.

THE COFIDES MISSION:

COFIDES’ dual mission as a financial institution con-

sists of furthering the internationalisation of Spanish 

enterprise and the country’s economy while contrib-

uting to the development of the countries hosting its 

investments.

To that end, drawing from its own and third party re-

sources (in particular, the FIEX and FONPYME funds 

that it manages on behalf of the State), COFIDES uses 

equity and debt instruments to provide medium- and 

long-term financing for viable private investment 

projects abroad in which Spanish interests are involved.

COFIDES is a member of the association of bilateral Eu-

ropean Development Finance Institutions (EDFI), whose 

15 members provide long-term financing for private sec-

tor investments in developing or transition economies.
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THE COFIDES VISION:

COFIDES aspires to become Spain’s foremost financial 

institution committed to furthering the internationali-

sation of Spanish enterprise and financing the private 

sector in developing countries. 

As part of the international development finance ar-

chitecture, COFIDES seeks to empower the private 

sector’s role as a driver of development and to rank 

among the European bilateral Development Finance 

Institutions having the greatest positive impact on the 

sustainable growth of countries hosting European in-

vestments.

THE COFIDES VALUES:

 COFIDES’ additionality constitutes a distinctive 

value and can be attributed, primarily, to the flexibil-

ity and versatility of its financial support, which are 

not readily found on the market; to its adaptation to 

each project’s and each sponsor’s financial needs, 

with generous maturities and grace periods; to its 

potential to provide institutional support for the in-

vestment projects financed; and to its personality as 

a temporary financial partner that stands by the in-

vestor without intervening in everyday project man-

agement.

 The sustainability of the resources and funds man-

aged by COFIDES enables the company to main-

tain its investment capacity over time and continue 

to provide its services to a growing number of busi-

nesses.

 Responsible financing is based on compliance with 

a code of ethics and a series of guiding principles 

that in turn rest on values such as respect for hu-

man rights, the social, environmental and economic 

sustainability of the projects financed, a commit-

ment to long-term economic development for local 

communities, awareness of the positive impact of 

investment on target country development, and the 

public circulation of information on anti-bribery and 

anti-corruption agreements in international com-

mercial transactions.

 The courteous, high quality service provided by 

COFIDES’ team is one of the mainstays of the com-

pany’s relationships with its stakeholders. COFIDES, 

which aspires to business excellence, has adopted 

a number of lines of action in the area of corporate 

responsibility that ensure ongoing improvement in 

its working methods and the quality of its services.

EXPERIENCE:

Since its founding, COFIDES has approved a total of 

549 investment projects in over 65 countries, where it 

has committed resources amounting to over 1.6 billion 

euros.

COFIDES may finance viable private investment 

projects such as the creation of new companies, the 

purchase of existing companies or the expansion of 

their business, providing they involve assets that re-

quire medium- and long-term financing, are undertak-

en abroad and entail some Spanish interest. 

On 31 December 2011, the total portfolio of COFIDES-

managed projects was worth 540.34 million euros.

PRODUCTS: 

COFIDES offers the financial products listed below for 

viable private investment projects abroad: 

 holdings in the share capital of host country com-

panies.

 medium- and long-term subordinated, mezzanine 

and joint venture loans for host country companies.

 medium- and long-term loans for host country 

companies.

 medium- and long-term loans for Spanish investors.

 multi-project loans.
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Letter from 
the Chairman

As you read through this Annual Report, you will 
surely find that COFIDES is a prime example of public-
private cooperation, as well as a synonym of efficient 
management, generation of positive results and 
economic and financial self-sustainability, as well as 
a lead player in financing internationalisation from 
the public domain. It is consequently an honour for me 
to chair this publicly and privately owned company 
which should continue to pursue additionality, even 
more intensely in this adverse economic-financial 
climate, in the fulfilment of its mission to finance the 
internationalisation of Spanish enterprise, especially 
small and medium-sized enterprise. 

COFIDES has assumed its assigned anti-cyclical 

role in an economic environment characterised by 

severely restricted access to credit and a decline in 

domestic demand. In this context, internationalisation 

has become one of the main avenues for companies 

to hone their competitive skills, continue to grow and, 

ultimately, ensure their business survival on both the 

domestic and international arenas.

Acutely aware of this, COFIDES has optimised the use 

of its resources and the FIEX and FONPYME funds it 

manages on behalf of the State. COFIDES’ business 

is characterised by divestments in emblematic 

projects, cumulative earnings and the management 

of revolving funds. These features have been the keys 

to its ability to continue to provide financial support in 

international projects for a large number of Spanish 

companies, particularly SMEs, which constitute a 

company priority. Another of the strategic pillars on 

which COFIDES’ activity rests is the furtherance of its 

own growth. The aim is to reach the largest possible 

number of companies to secure an exponential rise 

in the number of SMEs benefiting from its financing 

via venture capital, quasi equity or loans. Doubling the 

size of the SME portfolio is one of the first priorities 

of the forthcoming Strategic Plan that will define the 

company’s business activity in the years to come 

(2012-2015). 

To confront the substantial challenges ahead, the 

company will need to innovate and renovate its fi-

nancial offering, elasticise its operating criteria, con-

tinually assess its processes and products, raise the 

availability of the resources managed and seek co-fi-

nancing formulas with other national or international, 

bi- or multi-lateral financial institutions. A first step in 

this direction was the conclusion of a collaboration 

protocol with the Secretariat of State for Trade, under 

which COFIDES will be in a position to analyse Span-

ish companies’ investment operations abroad that are 

eligible for financing from the Fund for Enterprise In-

ternationalisation (FIEM). 

Likewise in this direction, the conclusion of the Mutu-

al Recognition Agreement between COFIDES and the 

Spanish International Cooperation for Development 

Agency (AECID) establishes a framework for action in 

the area of reimbursable development financing from 

which national companies may benefit. Of particular 

significance in this regard is COFIDES’ status as a 

bilateral development finance institution, whose dual 

mission consists of fostering development in coun-

tries hosting investments while furthering the interna-

tionalisation of Spanish enterprise. In the framework 

of the association of bilateral European Development 

Finance Institutions, EDFI, of which COFIDES is a 

member, the implementation in 2011 of the Interact 

Climate Change Facility, ICCF, for energy efficiency 

and climate change mitigation projects stands as 

proof of the success of joint financing among bilat-

eral and multilateral institutions. Along these lines, 
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COFIDES will continue to work with EDFI, backing 

the creation of new financing schemes similar to ICCF 

and European Financing Partners, EFP. Such schemes 

multiply the financing capacity of the participating in-

stitutions and mobilise a much larger volume of re-

sources than could be singly marshalled by any of the 

member institutions.

In this regard, as an EDFI member, COFIDES was one 

of over 25 Development Finance Institutions that 

signed a Corporate Governance Development Frame-

work in Washington in September 2011. COFIDES’ 

commitment to sustainability is visible in many other 

initiatives, one being the publication of its second 

report on corporate responsibility. That report ad-

dresses the company’s key internal and external poli-

cies for securing environmental, social and economic 

sustainability, not only internally, but also in all the 

projects in which it participates financially.

Internal control, ongoing education for the company’s 

human resources, the assessment correction and 

provisioning policies implemented, as well as active 

operation monitoring, should continue to play a 

prominent role in the company’s economic and 

financial stability. This will ensure not only a suitable 

size for its project portfolio, but also the substantial 

growth mentioned above. 

The COFIDES board and steering committee 

members have played a decisive and unquestionable 

role in the consolidation of the company’s excellent 

results, up 3.3 % from 2010, and I take this opportunity 

to reiterate my sincere thanks for their support 

and collaboration in these first few months of my 

chairmanship. Similarly, I wish to convey to each and 

every one of COFIDES’ employees my commitment 

to ensuring that our institution will continue to be an 

acknowledged benchmark of good public practice 

and management, where they will continue to be 

esteemed for what they are: highly qualified, top of the 

line professionals. 

In this new term, my determination and utmost effort, 

and those of the company as a whole, will be geared 

to making COFIDES the institution par excellence for 

the internationalisation of Spanish enterprise, and to 

positioning it prominently in the international devel-

opment finance architecture, on a par with the leading 

bilateral European Development Finance Institutions. 

Our success will be attendant upon the success of the 

Spanish companies whose projects we finance abroad 

and their concomitant consolidation on the domestic 

front. It will also be measured in terms of the develop-

ment of the local communities in the countries host-

ing our investments. We shall continue to deploy the 

earnest enthusiasm needed for COFIDES to continue 

to grow as an eminent development institution for 

financing private sector investment projects abroad.

The reader will quickly understand, from the content 

of the preceding paragraphs and the report below, 

why, by way of conclusion to this first introduction, 

I wish to express my personal gratitude to both the 

Minister of Economy and Competitiveness and to the 

Secretary of State for Trade, with whom I collaborate 

closely on a daily basis, for their confidence and for 

nominating me to the Board of Directors to chair an 

institution of such national and international repute 

as COFIDES. This honour comes, moreover, at a time 

when bolstering the competitiveness of the country’s 

business fabric and guaranteeing access to credit 

constitute two of the mainstays of the economic 

policy of Spain’s new Government.

Salvador Marín Hernández

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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  The total portfolio under management amounted 

to 540.34 million euros, one of the highest ever 

reached in COFIDES’ history. The total portfolio 

is calculated as the difference between the sums 

laid out and the amounts repaid. The portfolio of 
investment commitments, in turn, which is the total 

portfolio plus the sums committed but pending 

outlay, came to 619.09 million euros at year-end.

  At 170.92 million euros, the total value of yearly 

formalisations topped the company’s previous 

record.

  The company created and implemented its Specific 
Action Plan for SMEs 2011-2015, which aims to 

provide Spanish SMEs access to the financing 

required to undertake investment projects abroad.

  The record-breaking 25.43 million euros approved 

to finance projects sponsored by Spanish SMEs 

abroad was 130% higher than in 2010. 

  The financing formalised for projects sponsored 

by Spanish SMEs abroad was up by 125% on 2010, 

also setting a new record at 15.77 million euros. 

  The total portfolio of SME-sponsored projects grew 

by 27% over 2010 to a historic high in 2011 of 34.01 
million euros.

  The company posted after-tax earnings of 10.93 
million euros, 3.3% over 2010.

  The conditions for joint financing with COFIDES 
and FIEX resources were approved for investment 

projects in developing and emerging countries, 

with a 30 million-euro ceiling per project. 

  A facility for investment in Russia was created, for a 

sum of 55 million euros.

  A 35 million-euro facility was created for investing 
in the Gulf Cooperation Council countries.

  COFIDES, along with over 25 other Development 

Finance Institutions, signed a Corporate Govern-
ance Development Framework to further sustain-

able economic development in emerging markets.

  COFIDES formalised its participation in the Interact 
Climate Change Facility (ICCF) for a sum of 5 
million euros. This facility finances viable private 

investment projects that contribute to mitigating 

climate change and furthering energy efficiency in 

countries hosting official development assistance.

Highlights in 
2011
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Board of 
Directors
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Mr. Salvador Marín Hernández

BOARD MEMBERS* 

Mr. Rafael Aguilar Tremoya

Ms. Rosario Casero Echeverri

Mr. José Corral Vallespín

Mr. Javier Estévez Zurita

Mr. Alberto Gómez Nicolau

Mr. Rafael Garranzo García

Mr. Gerardo Gimeno Griñó

Mr. Valentín Laiseca Fernández de la Puente

Mr. Juan Piera Miquel

Mr. Francisco Javier Puig Asensio

Mr. Marcos Saldaña Ruiz de Velasco

Ms. Begoña Cristeto Blasco

SECRETARY, NON-MEMBER AND LEGAL COUNSEL
Ms. Ana Victoria Fernández Sáinz de la Maza

(*) April 2012

31/12/2011: Mr. Rafael Aguilar Tremoya; Mr. José Corral Vallespín; Mr. Javier Cruz Veira; Mr. José Enrique Gómez Espinar; Mr. Mariano 

Ferrer Pascual; Mr. Alberto Gómez Nicolau; Mr. Guillermo Jiménez Gallego; Mr. Valentín Laiseca Fernández de la Puente; Ms. María del 

Carmen Moreno Raymundo; Mr. Juan Piera Miquel; Mr. Francisco Javier Puig Asensio; Mr. Marcos Saldaña Ruiz de Velasco.



11Steering Committee

Chairman and Chief exeCutive OffiCer 
Mr. Salvador Marín Hernández

General manager
Mr. Luis de Fuentes Losada

investment manager
Ms. Consuelo Díaz Martínez

economic and financial manager
Mr. Darío Polo Rodríguez

General Secretary
Ms. Ana Victoria Fernández Sáinz de la Maza

deputy manager, Strategy and Business development
Mr. Fernando Aceña Moreno

deputy manager, Corporate Social development
Ms. Regina Pálla Sagüés

deputy investment manager
Mr. Miguel Ángel Ladero Santos

deputy manager, Project monitoring 
Ms. María Victoria de Luis Durán

Steering 
Committee
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Countries with 10 - 35
PROJECTS 

35
PROJECTS 

 Europe Africa Asia America

 Oceania

of COFIDES

Map of
Activities

Countries with 1 - 4
PROJECTS 

14  Poland

12  Czech Rep.

10  Romania

9  Hungary

5  Russia

5  Portugal

3  Turkey

2  Germany

2  Slovakia

2  France

2  Italy

2  United Kingdom

1  Belarus

1  Bulgaria

1  Slovenia

1  Latvia

1  Lithuania

1  The Netherlands

1  Ukraine

23  Morocco

5  Senegal

4  Algeria

4  Kenya

4  South Africa

2  Mauritius

2  Namibia

2  Tanzania

2  Tunisia

1  Benin

1  Ivory Coast

1  Guinea Bissau

1  Mali

1  Mozambique

1  Nigeria

1  Togo

1  Zambia

 + 
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 Europe Africa Asia America

 Oceania

Countries with 5 - 9 PROJECTS 

Other ELEGIBLE COUNTRIES  

79  Mexico

36  Brazil

31  Argentina

25  Chile

9  United States

5  El Salvador

4  Peru

4  Dominican Rep 

3  Uruguay

2  Colombia

2  Ecuador

2  Panama

2  Venezuela

1  Canada

1  Cuba

1  Honduras

1  Jamaica

1  Nicaragua

50  China

11  India

3  Thailand

2  U A E 

1  Jordan

1  Kazakhstan

1  Australia
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AFRICA
COUNTRY INDUSTRY BUSINESS

Algeria Energy BO&M solar thermal plant

Mauritius Services Preventive health at the workplace

Kenya Finance Micro-finance

Kenya Energy Geothermal power generation

Kenya Finance Regional development bank

Kenya Energy Electric power generation

Morocco Environment Chemical analyses

Morocco Services Health care

Morocco Capital goods Manufacturing of wires and cables for the automotive sector

Mozambique Services Private hospital

Nigeria Iron&Steel Manufacture Forging

Senegal Chemistry Cement production

Senegal Chemistry Commercialization of raw materials for insecticides and fertilizers

Tanzania Telecommunications Mobile telephony operator

Tanzania Services Airline

Togo Construction Cement production

Zambia Agri-food Production and distribution of food staples

Regional Finance Investment project financing

  Investment project financing that contribute to mitigating climate  

Regional Finance change and furthering energy efficiency

LATIN AMERICA
COUNTRY INDUSTRY BUSINESS

Argentina Automobile Large - scale press forming

Argentina Agri-food Fishery and subsequent commercialization of fish and seafood

Argentina Tourism Hotel construction and operation

Argentina Finance Venture capital for local SMEs

Argentina Agri-food Cuttlefish fishery

Brazil Tourism Hotel construction and operation

Brazil Resting articles Bed mattresses

Brazil Metal working Plumbing and drainage material

Brazil Energy Production of towers for wind turbines

Brazil Environment Waste management

Brazil Capital goods Equipment for the aeronautics industry

Brazil Automobile Automotive components

Brazil Construction materials Manufacturing of machinery for construction

Brazil Environment Electric power generation

Brazil Transport infrastructure Road construction and operation

Colombia Services Customer service contact centre

Chile Agri-food Salmon fish farm

Chile Services Chemical analyses

Chile Agri-food Mussel processing

PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS

Portfolio of 
Investments
Under management 31.12.2011
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PROJECT COMPANY SPONSOR CAPITAL QUASI-EQUITY LOAN

Solar Power Plant One Abener Energía X

Careworks Africa EFP (IFU)   X

Equity Bank EFP (FMO)  X 

OrPower4 EFP (DEG)   X

PTA Bank EFP (FMO)   X

Rabai Power EFP (PROPARCO)   X

AGQ Maroc  Labs&Technological Holding SOLEA  X 

IOG International Oncology Group   X

Relats Maroc Relats  X 

Maputo Private Hospital EFP (DEG)   X

African Foundries Limited (AFL) EFP (FMO)   X

Les Cements du Sahel EFP (DEG)   X

Sephos Senegal Térvalis Desarrollo   X

Millicom EFP (PROPARCO)  X 

Precision Air Services EFP (FINNFUND)  X 

Scancem International  EFP (PROPARCO)   X

Zambeef Products EFP (DEG)   X

European Financing Partners EDFI-BEI X  

Interact Climate Change Facility EDFI-AFD-BEI X  

PROJECT COMPANY SPONSOR CAPITAL QUASI-EQUITY LOAN

Gestamp Argentina Gestamp  X

Pesquera Deseado Grupo Profand  X

Pulitzer Maipú Reginahotel  X

PYMAR Fund. Empresa y Crecimiento X 

Vieira Argentina Grupo Vieira  X

Alagamar Empreendimentos Turisticos Grupo Sehrs  X

Flex Do Brasil Flex Equipos de Descanso  X

Genebre do Brasil Genebre   X

Gestamp Wind Steel Pernambuco Gestamp Wind Steel  X

Ros Roca Brasil Ros Roca Group  X

SK10 Do Brasil Indústria Aerospacial Alestis Aerospace  X

Teknia Tecnotubo Automotive Teknia Manufacturing Group  X

Ulma Andamies, Forma e Escoramentos Ulma C y E  X

Ventos do Sul Energía Elecnor  X

Viabahia Concessionaria de Rodovias Isolux Corsán Concesiones  X

Econtact Col Emergia Contact Center  X

Acuinova Chile  Pescanova  X

Agriquem América Labs&Technological Holding SOLEA  X

Blue Shell Mascato  X

PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS
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LATIN AMERICA (CONT.)
COUNTRY INDUSTRY BUSINESS

Chile Agri-food Preserves

Chile Agri-food Salmon fish farm

Chile Agri-food Salmon fish farm

Ecuador Agri-food Prawn aquiculture

Honduras Metal working Manufacturing of cans and aluminium tubing

Jamaica Energy Electric power generation and distribution

Mexico Metal working Steel component manufacture

Mexico Metal working Steel component manufacture

Mexico Automobile Plastic components

Mexico Consumer electronics Measuring and electrical instrument manufacture

Mexico Services Library software

Mexico Automobile Manufacturing of components for the automotive sector

Mexico Transport infrastructure Road construction and operation

Mexico Consumer electronics Valves for barbeque grills

Mexico Telecommunications Information technologies

Mexico Consumer electronics Vitroceramic hobs

Mexico Metal working Bridge cranes

Mexico Capital goods Machinery for livestok

Mexico Automobile Large - scale press forming

Mexico Automobile Large - scale press forming

Mexico Services Textile logistics warehouse

Mexico Textiles and footwear Sports clothing

Mexico Tourism Hotel construction and operation

Mexico Capital goods Manufacturing of wires and cables for the automotive sector

Mexico Capital goods Irrigation systems

Mexico Environment Industrial waste management

Mexico Automobile Automobile components

Mexico Consumer electronics Lamp manufacture

Panama Energy Electric power generation and distribution

Panama Capital goods Aggregate processing plant

Peru Transport infrastructure Concession for the construction and operation of a road system

Peru Agri-food Scallop aquiculture

Regional  Finance Private equity fund for L.A. SMEs

ASIA AND OCEANIA 
COUNTRY INDUSTRY BUSINESS

China Consumer electronics Electrical transformers

China Water supply Desalination plant construction and operation

China Automobile Automobile components

China Automobile Automobile components

China Chemistry Active ingredient manufacture

China Automobile Automobile components

Portfolio of 
Investments
Under management 31.12.2011
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PROJECT COMPANY SPONSOR CAPITAL QUASI-EQUITY LOAN

Inmuebles Cataluña Conservas Dani  X X

Nova Austral  Pescanova  X

Pescachile Pescanova  X

Promarisco  Pescanova  X

Alonarti Honduras Alonarti Envases   X

Jamaica Public Services EFP (PROPARCO)   X

Aernnova Componentes Aeronaúticos de México Aernnova Aerospace  X

Aernnova Estructuras Aeronaúticas de México  Aernnova Aerospace  X

Altcamp Mexico  Plàstics Alt Camp  X

Arteche México  Arteche Lantegi Elkartea   X

Baratz México  Baratz   X

BATZ Mexicana BATZ, Sociedad Cooperativa  X

Concesionaria México Aldesa Construcciones  X 

Copreci de México Copreci  X

Dominion México Global Dominion Access  X

Eika México Eika  X

Equipos de elevación y mantenimiento Industrias Electromecánicas GH  X

Gashor Equipos de Panificación Equipos de Panificación  X

Gestamp Cartera de México Gestamp X 

Gestamp Cartera de México Toluca Gestamp X 

Logisfashion México  Logisfashion    X

Lorpen México Industrias Savidai  X

Newco México Occidental Hoteles  X

Relats Leon Relats  X

Siberline México Siberline  X

Sistemas Desarrollo Sustentables  Befesa Medio Ambiente  X 

Técnicos en Alta Producción Bravo Enterprises    X

TM Industrial Grupo Luxiona   X

Hidroeléctrica San Lorenzo Grupo Empresarial Cuerva X 

Talleres ZB  Talleres ZB   X

Autopista del Norte OHL Concesiones X 

Vieira Perú Grupo Vieira  X

Aureos Latin American Fund Aureos Latin American Managers X

 

PROJECT COMPANY SPONSOR CAPITAL QUASI-EQUITY LOAN

Arteche DYH Arteche Lantegi Elkartea    X

Befesa CTA Qingdao Befesa Agua X  

Doga (Nantong) Auto Parts Doga    X

Dongguan Facomsa Motorcycle Components  Facomsa  X

Esteve Huayi Pharma Esteve Química   X

Fagor Ederlan Auto Parts Fagor Ederlan  X X
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ASIA AND OCEANIA (CONT.) 
COUNTRY INDUSTRY BUSINESS

China Automobile Automobile components

China Automobile Large - scale press forming

China Automobile Automobile components

China Automobile Automobile components

China Extractive industry Electro - metallurgy and energy

China Textiles and footwear Industrial textile manufacture

China Automobile Industrial textile coating

China Agri-food Commercialization of wine and liquors

China Capital goods Lift components

China Automobile Parts of rubber assemblies for the automotive sector and electrical appliances

India Metal working Irrigation systems

India Automobile Automotive control arms and accesories for automobiles

India Chemistry Essential oil and extract processing

India Agri-food Functional food ingredients and additives

India Automobile Vehicle lights equipment

India Automobile Wire production for the automotive industry

India Transport infrastructure Road construction and operation

EASTERN EUROPE, MIDDLE EAST AND CIS
COUNTRY INDUSTRY BUSINESS

UAE Chemistry Plastic materials manufacture

Slovakia Automobile Plastic injection molding

Slovakia Automobile Automobile plastic components

Poland Metal working Lighting product manufacture

Poland Metal working Forging

Poland Chemistry In-vitro diagnostics

Poland Automobile Automobile components

Poland Construction Bridge cranes

Poland Chemistry Plastic and rubber parts for automobiles

Poland Automobile Automobile components

Czech Rep. Automobile Automobile components

Czech Rep. Agri-food Fodder

Czech Rep. Metal working Stainless steel

Czech Rep. Construction Construction materials

Romania Metal working Steel service centre

Romania Consumer electronics Outdoor and underground cabinets

Romania Consumer electronics Body work and press-forming

Romania Automobile Automobile components

Russia Automobile Component press-forming

Romania, 

Czech Rep., Lithuania Automobile Automobile components

Portfolio of 
Investments
Under management 31.12.2011
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PROJECT COMPANY SPONSOR CAPITAL QUASI-EQUITY LOAN

Ficosa International Taicang Ficosa International  X 

Gestamp Autocomponents Kungshan  Gestamp Automoción X  

Infun Cast (WUHU)  Infun  X 

Jiaxing Fersa Bearing  Fersa Bearings  X 

Mangshi Sinice Silicon Industry Grupo Ferroatlántica  X 

Relats Insulation Material  Relats    X

Shanghai Coatex Technical Coating Rosich y Puigdengolas  X 

Shanghai Torres Wine Trading Miguel Torres   X

Shouzhou Savera Shangwu Elevator Perfiles Especiales Selak    X

Wingroup Leisure and Sports Equipment Cikautxo   X

Harvel Agua  Sistema Azud   X

Industrias del Recambio India Industrias del Recambio Distribución  X 

Minerva Flavours&Fragances Solutex  X 

Premium Ingredients Food Services Premium Ingredients  X 

Rinder India  Rinder Industrial    X

RPK India RPK  X 

Soma Isolux NH1 Tollway  Grupo Isolux Corsán   X 

    

PROJECT COMPANY SPONSOR CAPITAL QUASI-EQUITY LOAN

Atarfil Middle East Fze Atarfil  X

Altcam Slovaquia Plàstics Alt Camp  X

Precision Process Technology Slovakia Precision Process Technology  X

Aga Light Grupo Luxiona X

CELSA Polska Barna Steel   X

Comesa Polska Grupo CH - Werfen  X

Ficomirrors Polska Ficosa International  X

Intertech Polska  Industrias Electromecánicas GH  X

Plásticos Durex Polonia Plásticos Durex  X

Teknia Polska  Teknia Manufacturing Group  X

CIE Plasty CIE Automotive   X

Dibaq Dibaq Diproteg  X X

Mikra Metal Aceros Bergara  X

ZPSV Uhersky Ostroh Grupo OHL  X

Bamesa Otel Bamesa Aceros   X

Casbar Rumanía Casbar Tecnología Industrial  X

CSC Transmetal Consuegra  X X

GJM Components GJM Components   X

Gestamp Severstal Kaluga y S.Petersburgo Gestamp X

Cie Plasty, Cie Matricon, 

Cie Praga Louny, UAB Cie Lt Forge CIE Automotive  X
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NORTH AMERICA
COUNTRY INDUSTRY BUSINESS

USA Energy Ethanol production

USA Services Engineering consultants

USA Automobile Automobile components

USA Services Marketing through live events

USA Construction materials Products and processes for surface finishes

USA Environment Industrial waste management

WESTERN EUROPE
COUNTRY INDUSTRY BUSINESS

Germany Environment Waste management

France Retail Toy production and distribution

Netherlands Finance Exchange rate hedging derivates

Italy Services Dental franchises

Italy Retail Toy production and distribution

Portugal Hostelry Vending machines

United Kingdom Tourism Youth hostel management

United Kingdom Automobile Wire insulation

Portfolio of 
Investments
Under management 31.12.2011
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PROJECT COMPANY SPONSOR CAPITAL QUASI-EQUITY LOAN

AB of Illinois&AB of Indiana Abengoa Bioenergía X 

AEC Engineering IDOM  X

Ficosa North America Corporation Ficosa International  X

Global Events SF Global Events ID Corporation  X

Intrabond Alucoil  X

Tradebe Environmental Services Grupo Tradebe Medioambiente X 

PROJECT COMPANY SPONSOR CAPITAL QUASI-EQUITY LOAN

NH Schorling Ros Roca Internacional  X 

Eureka Kids Francia Damerik  X

TCX FMO Holanda X 

Dental Franchising Laboratorios Lucas Nicolás  X

Eureka Kids Italia Damerik  X

Maselga 93 Maselga  X

Equity Point UK Equity Point Holding Empresarial  X

Relats UK Relats  X
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The Interact Climate Change Facility (ICCF) is the new 

investment facility created by the Agence Française de 

Développement (AFD), the European Investment Bank 

and the association of bilateral European Development 

Finance Institutions (EDFI). 

ICCF will finance viable private investment projects that 

contribute to mitigating climate change and furthering 

energy efficiency in countries hosting official develop-

ment assistance.

ICCF can draw from an initial commitment of 305 mil-

lion euros. One hundred million euros of that sum were 

put up by the Agence Française de Développement, 50 

million by the European Investment Bank (under the in-

vestment facility envisaged in the Cotonou Agreement) 

and the remaining 155 million by EDFI members. These 

three institutions have acquired long experience in de-

veloping and emerging countries, and share interests 

in financing climate change-related projects. 

COFIDES, as EDFI member, participates in the ICCF with 

a total of 5 million euros. That commitment is shared 

equally by COFIDES and FIEX, and charged against 

their respective resources. In addition to COFIDES, the 

following EDFI member institutions participate in the 

ICCF: BIO (Belgium), CDC (United Kingdom), DEG (Ger-

many), FINNFUND (Finland), FMO (Netherlands), NOR-

FUND (Norway), OeEB (Austria), PROPARCO (France), 

Sifem (Switzerland) and SWEDFUND (Sweden).

Up to 50% of the outside resources needed by a project 

can be financed by the ICCF, subject to a 45  million-

euro ceiling. Furthermore, the EDFI member institution 

submitting the project is bound to co-finance it (con-

tributing at least 25% of the investment) with the ICCF. 

The institutions participating in the ICCF seek to further 

the use of clean technologies as part of sustainable 

economic development, providing long-term financing 

for renewable energy projects in countries with severe 

energy shortfalls that induce restricted access to en-

ergy. The ICCF has defined six investment categories: 

(i) energy generation with renewables; (ii) production of 

capital or durable goods for renewable energy genera-

tion or the reduction of greenhouse gases (GHG); (iii) 

energy efficiency projects that entail GHG reduction; 

(iv) alternative energy projects; (v) transport projects 

that favour the reduction of GHGs emitted by land or 

air traffic; (vi) GHG sequestration and storage projects.

Countries hosting Official 
Development Assistance
INTERACT CLIMATE CHANGE FACILITY (ICCF) - COUNTRIES HOSTING

OFFICIAL DEVELOPMENT ASSISTANCE

Sponsors:   European bilateral Development Finance Institutions, the European 
Investment Bank and the Agence Française de Développement

Industry:  Industries contributing to combating climate change
Product:  Loans, mezzanine loans and guarantees
Total investment:  305 million euros 
Participation and resources 5 million euros drawn from COFIDES/FIEX resources
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FLEX has been in the bed-making industry for over 60 

years and is presently a leading mattress, pillow, base 

and accessory manufacturer. 

By developing a global strategy, the company has con-

solidated its international business and positioned its 

brand soundly on the markets where it operates. FLEX 

has production and logistics facilities in Spain, Portu-

gal, United Kingdom, Brazil, Chile and Cuba, and com-

mercial offices in Europe and North America.

Since 2000 FLEX has had manufacturing plants in 

Brazil, where it is an industry major. Its Brazilian sub-

sidiary engages in mattress and base manufacture as 

well as in subsequent marketing under the Simmons, 

Epeda and Flex brands.

The rising demand for bedtime articles in Brazil has 

led FLEX to undertake a new investment project with a 

view to enlarging its Brazilian subsidiary’s output. That 

aim will involve purchasing machinery and building a 

new industrial bay.

The FLEX Group has received a 5.3 million-euro joint 

venture loan, charged to FIEX resources, for that 

investment. The estimated total cost of the project, which 

is expected to create over 200 direct jobs, comes to 13 

million euros.

The enlargement of FLEX’s productive facilities in Bra-

zil denotes the Spanish company’s determination to 

consolidate its internationalisation in a market with 

huge growth opportunities. With 36 operations and 195 

million euros committed, Brazil is one of the three main 

targets for COFIDES-financed investments. Moreover, 

COFIDES has had a country facility for Brazil since 

2005 that finances Spanish companies’ investment 

projects under advantageous conditions, such as high-

er debt and equity capital ceilings, lower origination 

fees or longer amortisation schedules

America. Brazil
FLEX DO BRASIL LTDA. - BRAzIL - AMERICA

Sponsor:  Flex Equipos de Descanso S.A.U.
Business:  Mattress, pillow and bedtime accessory manufacture
Industry:  Beds and related products
Total investment:  13 million euros
Financing:  5.3 million euros
Product:  Joint venture loan
Drawn from:  FIEX
No  of direct jobs associated with the project:  228
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The private sector has played a prominent role in elec-

tric power generation and distribution in Panama. Since 

the industry was reformed in 1971, the number of private 

actors has continued to grow and electric power now 

reaches nearly 90% of the population. 

CUERVA, an Andalusian family-controlled group, is 

presently building a run-of-the-river mini-hydroelectric 

plant on the Fonseca, the fastest flowing river in Pana-

ma. This, CUERVA’s first international project, is the out-

come of a concession agreement granted by the Pana-

manian National Public Service Authority. The project 

covers the construction, operation and maintenance of 

the facility, as well as the sale of the power generated 

over the 50-year term of the concession, which may be 

extended.

The plant will have a total installed capacity of 8.6 MW 

and its yearly output is estimated at 42.3 GWh. The total 

investment, amounting to 32 million dollars, is expected 

to create 11 direct jobs during the operating phase and 

over 200 during construction. Moreover, proceedings 

are now underway to register the project as a CDM 

(clean development mechanism) and the company is 

expected to obtain and be in a position to trade ERCs 

(emission reduction certificates). An estimated 20% of 

the revenues earned from ERC trading will be invested 

in the local community.

COFIDES has taken a 38% holding in CUERVA’s Pana-

manian subsidiary to contribute to project financing. A 

maximum of 2.9 million euros will be charged to FON-

PYME resources. With its equity holding approach, 

COFIDES provides SMEs such as CUERVA funding that 

supplements the instruments conventionally available 

on the marketplace.

CUERVA, which has been in business for over 70 years, 

engages in all areas of the industry: electric power gen-

eration, distribution and retailing, as well as the instal-

lation and maintenance of power infrastructures. The 

company presently has a headcount of 41 and 5 hydro-

electric plants, including the one in Panama, which will 

be operational in 2013.

America. Panama

Sponsor:   Grupo Empresarial Cuerva S.L.
Business:  Construction and operation of a mini-hydroelectric plant
Industry:  Energy
Total investment:  32 million dollars
Financing: 2.9 million euros
Product:  Equity
Drawn from: FONPYME
No  of direct jobs associated with the project:  Over 200

HIDROELéCTRICA SAN LORENzO S.A. - PANAMA - AMERICA
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America. Peru

Sponsor:   OHL Concesiones S.A.
Business:  Construction and operation of a toll motorway
Industry:  Transport infrastructure
Total investment: 280 million euros 
Financing: 25 million euros
Product:  Equity
Drawn from: FIEX
No  of direct jobs associated with the project:  Over 200

AUTOPISTA DEL NORTE S.A.C. - PERU - AMERICA

Peru has consolidated its position as one of the major 

emerging markets in Latin America. With GDP growth of 

over 6% since 2005, it is one of the few countries whose 

economy has not contracted in the wake of the recent 

international financial crisis.

High Peruvian economic growth has improved employ-

ment conditions and income levels, significantly reduc-

ing national poverty (from 48.7% in 2005 to 31.3% in 

2010). The country’s development has also been largely 

driven by modernisation of its transport infrastructures. 

Against this backdrop, the Strategic Institutional Plan 

2007-2011 drafted by the Peruvian Ministry of Transport 

prioritises maintenance of the national road network, 

the granting of transport licences and environmental 

control, among others. All these actions are defined 

in guidelines set out in the Intermodal Transport Plan 

(2004-2023).

The infrastructure investments envisaged in that plan 

are generally based on public-private holding schemes. 

A number of strategic development projects have been 

awarded under such arrangements in Peru, including 

the modernisation of key components of the national 

road system, such as Road Network 4. 

OHL CONCESIONES is the majority shareholder in 

Autopista del Norte, which in 2009 was awarded the 

25-year BOT concession to build, operate, conserve 

and maintain a 356-km stretch of that road, connecting 

Trujillo and Pativilca.

The project entails enlarging the present two-lane car-

riageway to four and building a series of additional in-

frastructures (roundabouts, overpasses and bypasses 

around the cities of Huarmey, Casma and Viru-Chao).

The total project investment amounts to 280 million eu-

ros. The OHL Group’s investment is partially financed by 

a FIEX holding of around 30% in the awardee company’s 

share capital, worth approximately 25 million euros.

The project is expected to have a highly beneficial im-

pact on the local community, with the creation of over 

200 direct jobs, improvement in road safety, reduction 

of travel time and the generation of new businesses 

such as tourism. These effects may, in turn, induce other 

social benefits such as lower interurban transport costs 

or the construction of new housing in the vicinity of the 

bypasses.

Project implementation to International Finance Cor-

poration Performance Standards, World Bank Group 

Environmental, Health and Safety Guidelines and the 

Equator Principles stands as proof of project social and 

environmental sustainability.

OHL CONCESIONES, one of the investment and opera-

tion majors on the international infrastructure market, 

presently ranks as the eighth largest private transport 

infrastructure developer world-wide. At this time, con-

cession is the group’s main line of business, as a result 

of its investments in Spain, Latin America and India. 

OHL CONCESIONES has over 30 concessions in its 

portfolio, 23 of which have been awarded to motorway 

concessionaire companies that together manage over 

4,400 km of toll motorways.
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In recent years, globalisation and the growing need to 

reduce manufacturing costs in the automotive industry 

have consolidated the position of emerging countries 

as potential markets for the production and marketing 

of automobiles and their components. 

In such a scenario, with a view to reverting to verti-

cal integration and lowering its dependence on Asian 

suppliers, FERSA BEARINGS, a Spanish company, has 

established a conical bearings manufacturing plant for 

the automobile industry in China.

FERSA BEARINGS, founded in Zaragoza in 1968, en-

gages in the manufacture of bearings for commercial 

and passenger vehicles. One of this Spanish compa-

ny’s priorities is R&D, through which it offers the au-

tomobile market high quality products with improved 

features and functions.

The company has a significant international footprint, 

with a presence in over 60 countries thanks to its broad 

network of distributors and representatives. Over 98% 

of its production is exported. The new bearing plant in 

China, located at Jiaxing, is its first production facility 

abroad. 

FERSA BEARINGS’ first project in China has benefit-

ed from COFIDES financing. To this end, its Chinese 

subsidiary received two joint venture loans for a total 

of 3.80 million euros, charged to COFIDES (56%) and 

FONPYME (44%) resources. The seven million-euro to-

tal investment in this project is expected to create 120 

jobs by 2014.

In addition to its location in China, a priority target 

for Spanish commercial interests, this project marks 

the initial consolidation of the internationalisation of 

an SME engaging in automobile components, one of 

Spain’s strategic industries and one in which Asian 

products constitute a competitive challenge. COFIDES 

has financed 50 operations in China for over 100 mil-

lion euros. Since 2002 the Company has had a financ-

ing facility for investments in that country, under which 

it has financed 12 operations amounting to a total of 

74.63 million euros.

Asia. China

Sponsor: Fersa Bearings S.A.
Business: Bearing manufacture
Industry:  Automobile
Total investment:  7.6 million euros
Financing:  3.8 million euros
Product:  Joint venture loan
Drawn from:  COFIDES/FONPYME
No  of direct jobs associated with the project:  120

JIAXING FERSA BEARING CO. LTD. - CHINA - ASIA 
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Asia. China

Sponsor:   Miguel Torres S.A.
Business:  Wine distribution 
Industry:  Agri-food
Total investment:  1.11 million euros 
Financing: 0.77 million euros
Product:  Ordinary loan to the project company
Drawn from: COFIDES
No  of direct jobs associated with the project:  85

SHANGHAI TORRES WINE TRADING LTD. - CHINA - ASIA

The Chinese wine market has enormous potential, for 

the beverage is becoming increasingly popular in the 

Middle Kingdom. Despite its relatively small size at this 

time, this market is highly competitive, as cellars from 

the world over vie to introduce and sell their products 

in China.

One of these firms is TORRES Group, which has been 

present in the country since 1997 through its Shang-

hai Torres Wine Trading subsidiary. The Chinese com-

pany, which presently employs 225 people, engages 

in the distribution of both the group’s own wines and 

other suppliers’ products, as retailers (wine shops, vi-

notheques and corners) as well as wholesalers (large-

scale distribution and its HORECA channel). TORRES 

has also recently launched on-line sales under its 

Everwines.com platform.

COFIDES has granted Shanghai Torres Wine Trading a 

770,000-euro loan to contribute to financing TORRES 

Group’s expansion in China. The group’s growth and 

geographic expansion in that Asian country in recent 

years has necessitated investments in computerised 

integrated management systems and the installa-

tion of points of sale in cities such as Shanghai, Bei-

jing, Chengdu, Guangzhou and Dongguan. The total 

investment in computer and integrated management 

systems in the Chinese project amounts to over one 

million euros. 

TORRES Group has over 50 references and is a world-

wide industry major. Ever since its founding in 1870, 

its main line of business has been wine and brandy 

making and distribution. Its best known international 

brands include “Sangre de Toro”, “Coronas”, “Viña Sol” 

and “Viña Esmeralda”, as well as icons such as “Mas La 

Plana” and “Jean Leon Reserva” from the group’s Jean 

Leon cellars.

The group has wineries in Catalonia, primarily in the 

Penedés and Priorato areas, the Rioja and Ribera del 

Duero regions in Spain, as well as in Chile and the 

United States (California). In addition to its distribution 

business in China, TORRES exports to over 140 coun-

tries, including Mexico, United Kingdom, Russia, Brazil 

and India.

TORRES’ expansion in Asia’s largest country is ben-

eficial for Spain, inasmuch as it will contribute to en-

hancing the image of Spanish wine in such a high 

growth market. TORRES Group distributes not only its 

own wines in China, but is also a vehicle for other na-

tional cellars seeking to earn a name for their products 

abroad.
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INDUSTRIAS DEL RECAMBIO Group, founded in Na-

varre in 1976, engages in spare part component, and 

more specifically suspension arm, manufacture for 

the automobile aftermarket. 

The group covers the demand from both small retail-

ers and world major spare parts groups, and presently 

exports to over 75 countries, with sales abroad, pri-

marily in Western Europe and North and Latin Ameri-

ca, accounting for nearly 70% of its turnover.

In recent years, the group has consolidated its in-

ternational expansion with the installation of plants 

in India and Brazil. Specifically, the automobile in-

dustry in India has been growing at a yearly rate of 

around 15% since 2001 and presently comprises a 

significant number of vehicle and components man-

ufacturers. 

INDUSTRIAS DEL RECAMBIO decided to conduct 

business in India in 2001 to capitalise on the oppor-

tunities afforded by the Asian automobile industry. 

The company initially aimed to manufacture suspen-

sion arms more competitively, although since 2006 it 

has geared its output to many other steel automobile 

components.

Years later, in light of the need to improve the com-

pany’s cost structure and increase its productive ca-

pacity, Industrias del Recambio India has invested in 

new facilities and more advanced technical resources. 

COFIDES has backed that effort with a joint venture 

loan for a total of 1.50 million euros, 25% of which 

was funded with its own and the remaining 75% with 

FONPYME resources. 

The investment project undertaken by the Spanish 

company in India will foreseeably employ 230 work-

ers and entail a total investment of 3.28 million euros.

In 2011, India hosted 34 billion euros in foreign di-

rect investment, making it one of the fastest grow-

ing FDI targets and a priority for Spanish trade policy. 

COFIDES, in turn, has had a 65 million-euro facility 

for financing investment in India since 2009, charac-

terised by soft terms and conditions. COFIDES has 

approved five operations for a total of 28.41 million 

euros under that facility.

Asia. India

Sponsor:  Industrias del Recambio Distribución S.L.
Business:  Automobile spare part component manufacture
Industry:  Automobile
Total investment:  3.28 million euros
Financing:  1.50 million euros
Product:  Joint venture loan
Drawn from:  COFIDES/FONPYME
No  of direct jobs associated with the project:  230

INDUSTRIAS DEL RECAMBIO INDIA PVT. LTD. - INDIA - ASIA
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Asia. India

Sponsor:  Premium Ingredients S.L.
Business:  Production and sale of food ingredients and additives
Industry:  Agri-food
Total investment:  0.67 million euros
Financing:  0.54 million euros
Product:  Joint venture loan
Drawn from:  COFIDES/FONPYME
No  of direct jobs associated with the project:  6

PREMIUM INGREDIENTS FOOD SERVICES LTD. - INDIA - ASIA

PREMIUM INGREDIENTS is a company specialising in 

the design, production and sale of blends of functional 

food ingredients, consisting primarily of gelatinising, 

thickening, or emulsifying agents, dairy, meat and veg-

etable proteins, specially selected starches, fibres, and 

other functional ingredients or additives.

After over ten years in business, PREMIUM INGREDI-

ENTS has consolidated its star position on the Spanish 

market, and with the rapid rise in its international pres-

ence in the form of commercial and production facili-

ties around the world, it now ranks among the interna-

tional market leaders.

For those reasons and in light of the maturity of the 

Spanish market, PREMIUM INGREDIENTS undertook 

activity in India in March 2011, founding a local compa-

ny denominated Premium Ingredients Food Services. 

This company’s corporate purpose is to install a plant 

and a portable technological platform to produce food 

additives. 

The total project investment amounts to 670,000 eu-

ros. In support of that project, COFIDES has granted the 

Indian subsidiary a joint venture loan for 536,160 euros, 

25% of which will be drawn from COFIDES funds and 

75% from FONPYME resources, charged to the line for 

financing investment in India. The project is expected 

to create six jobs for local workers to manage the plant 

and the portable technological platform. The subsidiary 

will attain ISO 22000 food safety certification.

This project, 80% financed by COFIDES, in addition to 

positioning PREMIUM INGREDIENTS in a market that 

is strategic for the company, will enable it to raise the 

volume of its exports to the Middle East, which accounts 

for the largest share of its turnover, while continuing its 

international expansion.
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SME INTERNATIONALISATION: A PRESSING 
NEED

According to a report published by the European 

Commission in 2011 entitled Opportunities for the 

Internationalisation of European SMEs, over 30% of 

European SMEs conduct some manner of interna-

tional business: export, import, international partner-

ing, foreign investment or technical cooperation. The 

percentage of SMEs with international interests var-

ies perceptibly from one type of activity to another, 

however. For instance, nearly 13% of European SMEs 

export to third country markets, while only 1% have in-

vestments outside EU borders. 

INTERNATIONALISED SMEs GENERATE 
MORE EMPLOYMENT

In addition to quantifying European SME internation-

alisation, the data contained in the Commission’s re-

port show that SMEs conducting international busi-

ness have, as a whole, higher employment growth 

rates than non-internationalised companies.  

On average, in recent years, European SME exporters 

exhibited employment growth rates twice as high as 

their non-exporting counterparts. SMEs with foreign 

investments, in turn, had mean employment growth 

rates of around 16%, compared to the 4% recorded for 

SMEs with no foreign investments. 

Headcount growth rate therefore constitutes an indicator 

of the enormous benefits reaped by companies when 

they internationalise and reveals investment abroad to be 

an avenue for faster business expansion, among others.

SMEs ENGAGING IN INTERNATIONAL

BUSINESS HAVE HIGHER

EMPLOYMENT GROWTH RATES

INTERNATIONALISATION MAKES SMEs 
MORE COMPETITIVE

In addition to flattering growth, internationalisation 

makes companies more competitive. In a globalised 

environment, internationalised companies ultimately 

from part of global value chains, a position that op-

timises resource allocation, investment in human 

capital, development of new products and moderni-

sation of production processes. All those factors en-

hance the company’s competitive power.

IN ADDITION TO DRIVING THEIR 

GROWTH, INTERNATIONALISATION

MAKES COMPANIES

MORE COMPETITIVE

INTERNATIONALISED SMEs DIVERSIFY AND 
MITIGATE RISK

Another factor induced by internationalisation that 

contributes largely to making a business more com-

petitive is risk mitigation, achieved by diversifying its 

operations across a number of markets.

Internationalisation is consequently most beneficial 

in an economic context such as prevailing today. 

In that regard, companies that internationalise are 

better placed to rise to domestic market challenges 

and implement a more competitive and sustainable 

global business model. Whole hosts of SMEs have 

embarked on internationalisation ventures to con-

tribute to their own survival, improve their corporate 

image and maintain their global supplier status in re-

spect of multinational firms, as typically exemplified 

by the automobile component industry. 

The projects financed by COFIDES in 2008-2011 

attest to the fact that many Spanish companies 

have opted to diversify as a way of offsetting the 

significant decline in domestic demand, thereby ul-

SPECIFIC ACTION PLAN FOR SMEs 2011-2015

Financial support for Spanish 
SMEs provided by COFIDES
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timately ensuring the continuity and growth of their 

business.

Although internationalisation is regarded as a lead-

ing strategic factor, the SME sector has barely begun 

to see the business potential afforded by the interna-

tional market, in particular in emerging countries, in a 

globalised economic context.

Default risk, bureaucracy and lack of financing are 

among the main obstacles encountered by European 

SMEs when doing business in markets outside the EU.  

RISK IS MITIGATED

BY DIVERSIFYING OPERATIONS

GEOGRAPHICALLY

SME FOREIGN INVESTMENT AND 
FINANCING NEEDS  

As a rule, SMEs have more restricted access to financing 

than large companies. In the earliest stages, SMEs tend 

to depend on internal sources of funding (shareholder 

capital, profits, asset sales). Nonetheless, outside sources 

of financing acquire greater significance as an SME begins 

to expand. The availability of external financing becomes 

a decisive factor in any company’s international growth, 

but especially in the case of SMEs. The private financial 

market, in turn, is scantly prone to finance operations 

abroad that entail country and project risk both.

 Host country financial and capital markets are usu-

ally poorly developed, characterised by a want of 

long-term financing and high costs.

 Domestic and international banks generally grant 

short-term financing for highly capitalised projects, 

in which they need not assume country risk.

 Multilateral institution financing focuses primarily 

on public sector projects (infrastructure and social 

investment), is highly selective when allocating re-

sources to the private sector, and requires amply 

capitalised project structures.

Spanish SMEs have significant structural shortcomings, 

financially speaking, to be able to undertake 

internationalisation with the necessary solvency:

 Poor capitalisation that is often a handicap when 

seeking sufficient long-term bank financing (even 

for domestic operations). 

 Difficulties to obtain competitive financing on se-

curity markets.

 Lack of an investment history abroad. 

 Incompletely developed and not readily bankable 

business plans.

 Accounting and financial practices that often fall 

short of the requirements that would facilitate in-

vestor financing from commercial financial institu-

tions.

 Weak or heavily compromised security.

Of the various types of international ventures open to 

companies, investment abroad is indisputably among 

the ones that call for the largest volumes of financial 

resources.

In addition to the need to attain sufficient maturity for 

internationalisation and implement investment projects 

in other markets, SMEs must develop the skills required 

to apply for, negotiate and use the financial resources 

necessary for and suitable to such projects.
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OF THE VARIOUS TYPES OF

INTERNATIONAL VENTURES,

INVESTMENT ABROAD CALLS FOR

THE LARGEST VOLUME

OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES

SPECIFIC ACTION PLAN FOR SMEs, 2011-2015 

COFIDES prioritises access to medium- and long-term 

financing for Spanish SMEs with international aspira-

tions that undertake investment operations abroad. 

Aiming to double the company’s portfolio of foreign in-

vestment projects sponsored by Spanish SMEs, in June 

2011 COFIDES’ Board of Directors, in conjunction with 

the FONPYME Executive Committee, approved a Spe-

cific Action Plan for SMEs for the period 2011-2015. 

The new measures adopted to favour SMEs seek prima-

rily to provide financing at more competitive prices and 

simplify and streamline application processing. To that 

end the Board decided, among others:

 To lower financing costs for SMEs with respect to 

the Euribor benchmark.

 To raise the ceiling for financing with FONPYME (to 

5 million euros) and joint COFIDES/FONPYME (to 

10 million euros) resources.

 To soften the requirement calling for submission of 

3 years’ audited financial statements. 

 To reduce the lower limit for project financing, pres-

ently set at 250,000 euros.

 To further companies’ social responsibility and in-

form SMEs of the importance of corporate respon-

sibility as a management tool through, for instance, 

the CSR-SME initiative sponsored by the United 

Nations’ Global Compact Network Spain and the 

Official Credit Institute (ICO).

The automobile industry was the main beneficiary of 

COFIDES financing for SMEs over the last 3 years. Other 

industries in which Spanish SMEs have begun to locate 

production abroad include plastics, hostelry, capital 

goods, business services, chemicals and pharmaceuti-

cals, iron and steel manufacture, trade and textiles and 

footwear.

The main hosts for SME-sponsored, COFIDES-financed 

investment were China, United Arab Emirates, Argenti-

na, United Kingdom, France, Romania, Mexico, Morocco, 

USA, Brazil, Chile, India, Panama and Italy.

Many Spanish SMEs in a wide range of industries have 

embarked on internationalisation ventures, establish-

ing plants in foreign markets with the aid of COFIDES 

financing. The long list of examples includes Cuerva 

Group in Panama, Fersa Bearings in China, Industrias 

del Recambio in India, Premium Ingredients in India, 

AGQ in Morocco, Reginahotel in Argentina, Talleres ZB 

in Panama, Damerik in France and Italy, Solutex in India, 

Equity Point in United Kingdom, Relats in China, Mexico, 

Morocco and United Kingdom and many others.

LOWERING SMEs’ FINANCING

COSTS IS ONE OF THE MEASURES 

ENVISAGED IN THE SPECIFIC

ACTION PLAN FOR SMEs 2011-2015

SPECIFIC ACTION PLAN FOR SMES 2011-2015 
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CATEGORIES OF SPANISH SME FOREIGN INVESTMENT
Number of enterprises SEGMENT 

ELIGIBLE FOR 
COFIDES 

FINANCING

SALES OFFICES ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

AGENCy OFFICES.................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

PRODUCTION OF GOODS AND SERVICES ....................................................................................................................................................................................................

Source: COFIDES’ formulation based on: (1) “Retrato de la Pyme” (The SME, a Portrait) Dirección General de Política de la Pyme, 2011 and (2) “Perspectivas 
del Sistema Financiero” (Financial System, Prospects) Fundación de las Cajas de Ahorros (Funcas), 2010.

Source: COFIDES’ formulation based on: (1) “Retrato de la Pyme” (The SME, a Portrait) Dirección General de Política de la Pyme, 2011 and (2) “Perspectivas 
del Sistema Financiero” (Financial System, Prospects) Fundación de las Cajas de Ahorros (Funcas), 2010.

1,970

19,791

25,728

........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

..............................................................................................................................................................................................................................

..........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

..............................................................................................................................................................................................................................

.................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................INVESTMENT ABROAD

INTERNATIONAL SUBCONTRACTS 

INTERNATIONAL CONTRACTS 

TECHNOLOGICAL COOPERATION

ExPORT ACTIVITy

IMPORT ACTIVITy

NO SMEs 3,283,495

1,083,553

788,039

164,175

157,608

98,505

65,670

INTERNATIONALISATION PyRAMID FOR SPANISH SMEs
Number of enterprises

2 %

3 % 

5 % 

5 %

24 %

33 %

100 %
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1.  ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

In an international economic context characterised by 

tension in the euro zone and a slowdown in domestic 

demand in the main emerging economies, world GDP 

growth stood at 2.7% in 2011, according to World Bank 

estimates. Developing countries contributed heavily to 

that figure, with a combined growth rate of 6%. Flagging 

growth in international trade in 2011 did not hinder foreign 

direct investment (FDI) flows worldwide, however, which 

were up by 17% over 2010, climbing to levels higher than 

the mean for the years preceding the crisis (IED), according 

to UNCTAD estimates.

FDI flows toward developed countries rose by 18%, 

while investment hosted by transition economies and 

developing countries saw growth rates of around 15% and, 

as in the preceding year, accounted for over 50% of total 

world FDI.

The rise in FDI toward developed countries after three 

consecutive years of declines can be explained primarily by 

an intensification of transnational merger and acquisition 

activity. M&As rose by 57% in these economies as a result 

of corporate restructuring, which drove many companies 

to spin off assets unrelated to their core business. The 

developing and transition economies, in turn, set a new 

record in investment inflows thanks to the upward 

variation in greenfield projects, which accounted for nearly 

75% of their incoming FDI.  

The European Union hosted 32% more FDI, while flows 

into the USA declined by 8%. Latin America-Caribbean 

(+35%) was the region where incoming FDI climbed most 

steeply. This was the outcome of upturns in the region’s 

main target country, Brazil (+35%), as well as in Colombia 

(+113%), Chile (+16%) and Peru (+7%). Inflows continued to 

grow in Southeast Asia (+11%), albeit more slowly than in 

2010 (+18%), despite significant rises in Indonesia (+48%) 

and India (+38%). Growth ebbed in both Western Asia 

(-13%) and Africa (-0.7%). The rise in FDI flowing into South 

Africa (+269%) was insufficient to offset the decline in the 

Northern African countries.

Spanish GDP rose by 0.7% in 2011 as a whole, after falling 

in the two preceding years. According to the Bank of 

Spain, this pattern can be attributed to a dip in domestic 

demand (-1.3%), accounted for nearly entirely by the 

negative contribution of investment in construction and 

the decline in public spending. For the fourth consecutive 

year, net foreign demand contributed to mitigating the 

impact on business activity of the downturn in domestic 

spending, thanks to export strength and import 

weakness. Again in 2011, then, the foreign sector played 

a decisive role in palliating the decline in activity in the 

home economy.

Spain’s net investment outflows, in turn, came to 

approximately 15.6 billion euros, down nearly 30% on the 

figure recorded in 2010. That slide was essentially the 

result of increased divestment rates beginning the third 

quarter of 2011. Turkey, Poland, United Kingdom, Brazil, 

USA, Germany and Mexico headed the list of Spanish 

FDI host countries, in that order. Turkey (+18%) and Poland 

(+17%) were the two hosts where percentage growth was 

highest. The industry most favoured by Spanish FDI was 

financial services, followed at a substantial distance by 

transport and storage.

WORLD-WIDE FOREIGN

DIRECT INVESTMENT FLOWS 

WERE UP BY 17% OVER 2010

2.  PROJECT FINANCING

For COFIDES, 2011 was another historic year in terms 

of the value of annual formalisations, which totalled 

170.92 million euros, up 21.14% from the volume 

recorded the year before. At 193.28 million euros, the 

level of approvals also remained high, climbing by 

17.26% over the 2010 figure.

2.1.  Approvals

A total of 42 operations were approved in 2011, for an 

overall commitment of 193.28 million euros, compared 

to the 164.83  million-euro commitment recorded the 

year before.
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COFIDES drew from its own resources to approve a to-

tal of 20 projects in 11 countries, with an overall commit-

ment of 18.32 million euros.

Of those 20 projects, five were co-financed by the Fund 

for Foreign Investment (FIEX) for an additional 16.36 

million euros in five countries. The Fund for Small and 

Medium-sized Enterprise Foreign Investment Opera-

tions (FONPYME), in turn, co-financed a total of nine 

COFIDES projects in six countries, adding a further 

12.62 million euros to the total. 

Moreover, five projects were approved for implemen-

tation in five countries against FONPYME resources 

without COFIDES co-financing, for a total of 6.03 mil-

lion euros, bringing the total volume of commitments 

drawn from FONPYME resources to 18.65 million eu-

ros, up 152.37% from 2010.

The FIEX Executive Committee, in turn, approved 17 

projects in 11 countries without COFIDES financing, 

for an overall total of 139.95 million euros. In all, the 

commitment against FIEX resources in 2011 amounted 

to 156.31 million euros, 5.98% higher than in 2010. 

In addition, in 2011 the FIEX Executive Committee 

approved 23 project profiles valued at 180.23 million 

euros. 

An operation totalling 1.88 million euros to be charged 

to FIEX resources was approved under the European 

Financing Partners (EFP) framework. Moreover, a 0.71 

million-euro project was approved for Ghana against 

COFIDES and FIEX resources through the new Interact 

Climate Change Facility (ICCF).

LATIN AMERICA

HOSTED THE LARGEST

SHARE OF INVESTMENTS

APPROVED BY COFIDES IN 2011,

WITH 56% OF THE TOTAL

RESOURCE COMMITMENT

Latin America, with 56% of the total resources com-

mitted, continued to host the largest share of the  

investment projects approved by COFIDES. It was fol-

lowed at a distance by Asia (26%), North America (i.e., 

USA and Canada) (6%), Western Europe (5%), Central 

and Eastern Europe (5%) and Africa (2%). 

RESOURCES APPROVED IN 2011 
DISTRIBUTION BY AREA

2 % ................................................
5 % ...............................................................

5 % ........................................

6 % ................................................

26 % ............................................

 ....................................... 56 %

Latin America Western Europe

Asia Central an Eastern Europe

North America Africa

By volume of commitment, Brazil (24%), China (24%), 

Mexico (14%) and Chile (12%) were the main targets 

for approvals, whereas China with eight, Brazil with 

seven, Chile with five, Mexico with four and India and 

the United States with three each headed the list by 

number of operations approved. 

Investment was spread over a wide range of industries. 

The automobile industry, with eight, hosted the largest 

number of projects approved. It was followed by agri-

food with six projects and capital goods with five. The 

construction materials, energy, transport infrastructure 

and electronic and electrical product industries re-

ceived three projects each. Lastly, projects were also 

approved in 2011 in the metal working, service, telecom-

munications, health, hostelry, extractive and environ-

mental industries.
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By investment volume, the chief industries were trans-

port infrastructure (with 22% of the volume committed), 

automobile (13%), extractive (13%), energy (12%), capital 

goods (11%), agri-food (10%), health (5%), electronic and 

electrical products (3%), construction materials (2%) and 

environment (2%).

Finally, these projects had an exponential effect on 

host country economies. The 2011 approvals seeded 

total investments worth 1.8 billion euros that generated 

approximately 8,000 direct jobs, with the concomitant 

beneficial effects on these countries’ development, 

strengthening both economies and local skills.

RESOURCES APPROVED IN 2011 
DISTRIBUTION BY INDUSTRY

7 % .........................

2 % ...............................

2 % ...............................

3 % .......................................

5 % ......................................

11 % ....................................................................

 ..........................................13 %

 ...................................13 %

 ...................................12 %

 ........................................22 %
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Environment

Other

10% ...............................................

2.2.  Formalisations

COFIDES FORMALISED 38 PROJECTS

WORTH 170.92 MILLION EUROS,

UP 21% OVER 2010

A total of 38 operations were formalised in 2011 for a vol-

ume of 170.92 million euros, compared to the 141.09 mil-

lion-euro commitment for the 27 operations formalised in 

2010.

COFIDES drew from its own resources to approve a total 

of 17 projects in 12 countries, with an overall commitment 

of 14.24 million euros.

FIEX co-financing for four of these projects brought in an 

additional 10 million euros, while FONPYME co-financing 

for seven contributed a further 5.88 million euros.

Five projects involving 5.94 million euros were formalised 

with FONPYME resources only, while 134.86 million euros 

were drawn against FIEX resources to formalise 16 projects.

Hence, formalisations against FIEX resources amounted 

to 144.86 million euros. The 11.81 million euros formalised 

against the FONPYME, in turn, signified a 142.85% rise in 

volume over 2010.

Three operations were formalised in 2011 under the Euro-

pean Financing Partners (EFP) scheme for a sum of 2.27 

million euros, drawn from FIEX resources. In addition, 

five million euros were formalised for the ICCF (Interact 

Climate Change Facility) in the target year, 50% against 

COFIDES and 50% against FIEX resources.  

Geographically speaking, Latin America, with 55% of the 

resources committed, was the main host for COFIDES-fi-

nanced investments in 2011, followed by Asia (29%), West-

ern Europe (6%), North America (USA and Canada) (4%), 

Africa (1%), Central and Eastern Europe (1%) and the Middle 

East (1%). The countries hosting official development as-

sistance, the possible beneficiaries of ICCF financing, ac-

counted for 3% of the total.

By industry, the main targets in terms of volume of re-

sources formalised in 2011 were transport infrastructure 

(28%), automobile (15%), extractive (15%) and agri-food (9%). 

Projects were also formalised in the capital goods (5%), 

construction materials (5%) and energy industries (3%), 

among others. 

Ninety four per cent of the funds invested in the opera-

tions formalised in 2011 adopted the form of equity or 

quasi equity-like instruments, in line with COFIDES’ mis-

sion to offer support through financial products that sup-

plement standard market instruments.

RESOURCES FORMALISED IN 2011 
DISTRIBUTION BY FINANCIAL PRODUCT

6 % ..................................

21 % ....................................

 ........................................73 %

Quasi equity-like instruments

Equity

Loans
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2.3.  Outlays

The total outlays for operations managed by COFIDES 

in 2011 came to 134.69 million euros.

Part of that sum, 10.21 million euros, was drawn from 

COFIDES’ own resources, while 9.25 million were 

provided by FONPYME and the remaining 115.23 million 

euros by FIEX.

The figures on projects approved, operations formalised 

and outlays in 2011 are compared to the numbers for 

the two preceding years in the table below:

 In million euros

2009 2010 2011

Outlays 79.24 155.35 134.69

Formalisations 139.87 141.09 170.92

Approvals 202.81 164.83 193.28

Total portfolio 452.51 561.42 540.34

.....................................................................................................................................................

.....................................................................................................................................................

.....................................................................................................................................................

.....................................................................................................................................................
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OUTLAyS AND PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENT 
COMMITMENTS, 2009-2011
In million euros

2009 2010 2011

Outlays Portfolio of investment commitments

2.4.  Portfolio

The portfolio of investment commitments contains all 

the financial commitments formalised by COFIDES, 

FIEX and FONPYME, including sums committed but not 

yet laid out, net of repayments. Further to this criterion, 

on 31 December 2011 the investments committed by 

the company were worth 619.09 million euros, spread 

across 151 projects located in 42 countries.

The total portfolio, in turn, which reflects the balance of 

the amounts actually laid out for formalized operations 

net of the sums repaid, amounted to 540.34 million 

euros on 31 December 2011. That figure constitutes 

one of the highest reached by the portfolio in company 

history, despite the 3.75% dip with respect to the 

preceding year explained, primarily, by divestments in 

three large energy and infrastructure projects.

3.  OPERATING CAPACITY

By year-end 2011, COFIDES’ overall operating capacity 

had climbed to one billion euros.

3.1.  FIEX and FONPYME

The net worth of the FIEX and FONPYME funds on 

31 December 2011 amounted to 819.04 million euros. 

FIEX accounted for 770.73 and FONPYME for the 

remaining 48.31 million euros.

FIEX, a vehicle highly esteemed by Spanish companies 

undergoing internationalisation, continued to commit 

significant sums in 2011, allocating resources for 

projects in countries such as Brazil, Chile, China, USA, 

Peru, Mexico, Argentina, Colombia, Italy and Jamaica. 

By year-end, 113 revolving credit operations totalling 

967.83 million euros had been drawn from the Fund, 

78 of which, for 551.86 million euros, were still in its 

portfolio of investment commitments on that date.

The volume of FONPYME resources committed in 2011, 

in turn, came to 18.65 million euros. Twelve operations 

were formalised against the fund during the target year 

for a total of 11.81 million euros. In 2011, FONPYME ap-

proval and formalisation volumes reached new historic 

heights. By year-end, 56 projects for a volume of 37.27 

million euros had been booked against the Fund, 36 of 

which, for 24.34 million euros, were still in its portfolio of 

investment commitments on that date.

IN A HISTORIC YEAR

FOR FONPYME, APPROVAL AND 

FORMALISATION VOLUMES

REACHED NEW HEIGHTS

3.2.  ICO lines

A Master Agreement on General Financing Conditions 

for “ICO Lines 2011” was concluded on 13 January 

between Spain’s Official Credit Institute (ICO) and 

COFIDES. On that same date, the company adhered 

to the “Specific Conditions” for an “ICO International 
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Investment 2011” credit line, which remained in place 

through the end of the year.

On 27 July 2011, the Official Credit Institute (ICO) 

and COFIDES concluded a Multi-currency Financing 

Agreement with a four million-euro ceiling. The dead-

line for drawing on this facility is 26 July 2012.

3.3.  Multilateral and bilateral 
resources

3.3.1. Multilateral Investment Fund (FOMIN)

One of the operations in COFIDES’ portfolio at year-

end 2011 was posted against its financing line with the 

Multilateral Investment Fund (FOMIN) for investments 

in small companies located in Latin America and the 

Caribbean. 

3.3.2. European Development Finance 
Institutions (EDFI)

Designed to finance private sector projects in ACP 

countries, the European Financing Partners (EFP) 

scheme has conducted four financing rounds to date. 

In the latest, concluded in 2010, a further 230 million 

euros were made available. COFIDES has contributed 

a total of 35 million euros in these rounds, charged to 

its own and FIEX resources. 

On 31 December 2011 this financing scheme, jointly 

sponsored by the European Investment Bank (EIB) 

and the bilateral European Development Finance In-

stitutions (COFIDES and its counterparts), had com-

mitted a total of 375 million euros spread across 26 

projects located in 13 countries. COFIDES’ and FIEX’s 

year-end 2011 participation in these projects trans-

lated into a commitment of 22.33 million euros for 18 

projects located in 11 countries, 10 of which in Sub-

Saharan Africa.

In February 2011, COFIDES approved its participation in 

the Interact Climate Change Facility (ICCF). ICCF is a 

new investment facility created by the French Devel-

opment Agency (AFD), the European Investment Bank 

and the association of bilateral European Development 

Finance Institutions (EDFI). Its purpose is to finance vi-

able private investment projects that contribute to miti-

gating climate change and furthering energy efficiency 

in countries hosting official development assistance. 

COFIDES’ five million-euro contribution draws from 

its own (50%) and FIEX (50%) funds. At year-end 2011, 

COFIDES had committed 0.71 million euros to a project 

to enlarge the installed capacity of a steam generation 

plant in Ghana.

ICCF FINANCES VIABLE PRIVATE

INVESTMENT PROJECTS THAT

CONTRIBUTE TO MITIGATING CLIMATE

CHANGE AND FURTHERING ENERGY

EFFICIENCY IN COUNTRIES HOSTING

OFFICIAL DEVELOPMENT ASSISTANCE

Other EDFI activities

As an EDFI member, COFIDES, together with over 25 

other bilateral and multilateral development finance in-

stitutions, concluded a Corporate Governance Develop-

ment Framework in September 2011. This framework de-

fines a series of common guidelines for furthering sus-

tainable economic development in emerging markets. 

Lastly, in 2011 COFIDES participated in the following 

working groups with a view to harmonising member in-

stitutions’ practices and facilitate the joint financing of 

operations: EFP, Development Impact, Environmental 

and Social Standards, Corporate Governance and Com-

munication Strategy.

Likewise as an EDFI member, COFIDES participated in 

other working groups organised by multilateral finance 

institutions such as the International Finance Corpora-

tion (World Bank Group), which heads working groups 

dealing with SME financing and the IFI Flagship Report. 

That report highlights the importance of international fi-

nancial institutions in fostering growth and employment 

by supporting the private sector in emerging markets. 

The report was submitted to the World Bank-Interna-

tional Monetary Fund annual meetings held in Washing-

ton in September 2011, attended by COFIDES.

Also in the target year, EDFI put forward a new strategy 

for 2011-2015 with three main objectives: (i) to provide 

its members with a professional network offering high 

added value; (ii) to raise the visibility of its members 

and their results; and (iii) to grow investment through 

inter-EDFI member co-financing and financing with 

multilateral financial institutions.

4.  COMMERCIAL ACTION

4.1.  Commercial activity

THE 2011 COMMERCIAL ACTION PLAN

WAS CLEARLY GEARED TO FURTHERING

THE INTERNATIONALISATION

OF SPANISH SMEs
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The Commercial Action Plan for 2011 was clearly geared 

to furthering Spanish SMEs’ business abroad. This 

approach was in line with the company’s strategic action 

plan designed to enlarge the COFIDES and FONPYME 

portfolios. Fostering Spanish SME location abroad is a 

COFIDES priority, which materialised in June 2011 with 

the approval of the Specific Action Plan for SMEs 2011-

2015. The primary aim of this plan is to double the size 

of the portfolio of operations sponsored by small and 

medium-sized companies.

The main measures taken under the plan include price 

reductions for projects sponsored by SMEs, more flexible 

requisites for qualifying for COFIDES financing, the 

establishment of a fast-track procedure for processing 

applications, and lower financial charges for operation 

monitoring. The main business indicators for the project 

cycle phases afford proof of COFIDES’ determination 

to focus on actions associated with SMEs. Indeed, 55% 

of the potential clients visited as part of the company’s 

commercial calls scheme were SMEs. Twenty-four 

operations proposed by SMEs were injected into the 

pipeline (for a 33% rise over 2010). Seventeen projects 

sponsored by SMEs were approved for a sum of 25.43 

million euros (up by 42% and 130% over the preceding 

year, respectively). The volume of SME-sponsored 

project formalisations amounted to 15.77 million euros, 

125% higher than in 2010. As a result, at year-end 2011 

COFIDES managed a total portfolio of 54 projects 

sponsored by SMEs worth 34 million euros, up by 27% 

over 2010. Particularly striking was the increase in the 

total FONPYME portfolio, which grew by 7.54 million 

euros.

SEVENTEEN SME-SPONSORED

PROJECTS WERE APPROVED

FOR 25.43 MILLION EUROS, UP BY 42%

AND 130% ON 2010, RESPECTIVELY

With its sights consistently trained on medium-sized 

companies and the enlargement of its portfolio of 

funds under management, COFIDES approved terms 

and conditions for COFIDES and FIEX project co-

financing in 2011. Four operations were formalised 

under this scheme during the year, for a total of 16 mil-

lion euros. 

Another of the company’s strategic lines in 2011 was to 

consolidate COFIDES as a benchmark government ve-

hicle for financing investment operations abroad. To that 

end, a collaboration protocol was set up with the Secre-

tariat of State for Trade, under which COFIDES will ana-

lyse Spanish companies’ investment operations abroad 

eligible for financing from the Fund for Enterprise Inter-

nationalisation (FIEM). Similarly, COFIDES concluded a 

Mutual Recognition Agreement with the Spanish Inter-

national Cooperation for Development Agency (AECID), 

which establishes a framework for action in the area of 

reimbursable development financing. 

In March 2011 a training seminar was held for ICEX’s 

Regional Trade Office Managers (DDTTs) on publicis-

ing COFIDES’ business activity among Spanish firms, in 

which the company’s financial instruments and products, 

project cycle and track record were described. The main 

thrust of the meeting was to clearly identify COFIDES 

as an instrument of the Spanish Government’s trade 

authority and encourage the DDTTs to inform the larg-

est possible number of companies in their respective ar-

eas of competence of its activity. Collaboration between 

COFIDES and the DDTTs will lead to more effective early 

detection of projects eligible for COFIDES financing, es-

pecially projects sponsored by SMEs, where company 

penetration is shallower. In pursuit of this same objective, 

a partnering agreement was concluded with the Govern-

ment of the Basque Country’s business development 

agency, Sociedad para la Transformación Competitiva 

(Company for Competitive Transformation, SPRI). 

At the same time, collaboration was reinforced with 

Spain’s network of economic and trade offices abroad 

(OFECOMES). Under these arrangements, reporting on 

projects formalised will be institutionalised through the 

Deputy Directorate of Foreign Investment (Secretary of 

State for Trade) to furnish the OFECOMES monthly with 

updated information on COFIDES’ portfolio of projects 

under management in the countries of their respec-

tive competence. This initiative is designed to make the 

network not only a recipient, but also a transmitter of in-

formation of investment initiatives eligible for COFIDES 

financing.

Lastly, two new instruments were created in the target 

year, the facility for investments in Russia and the facil-

ity for investments in Gulf Cooperation Council countries, 

with allocations of 55 and 35 million euros, respectively. 

The Gulf Cooperation Council countries constitute a pri-

ority market for Spain’s commercial interests due, among 

others, to their energy potential and active policy to se-

cure investments. Russia, in turn, played an important role 

in 2011 in many cultural, commercial and political events, 

all in the context of the Spain-Russia dual year.

4.2.  Promotional activities

In 2011 COFIDES continued to consolidate its position as 

a benchmark financial institution for internationalisation 
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projects undertaken by Spanish companies, in particular 

SMEs.

With a view to strengthening its brand image, COFIDES 

launched a Communication Plan in 2011 to conduct ef-

fective external communication. Ten of the objectives 

pursued by the plan were met during the year. One of 

the most prominent was the creation of a Communi-

cation Committee, whose membership includes repre-

sentatives from the company’s various areas. The Com-

munication Committee held four official meetings in 

2011 and is presently working around four priority pillars: 

renovation of the COFIDES website, implementation of 

a structured call scheme and relations with the media, 

creation of an external newsletter and development of a 

company strategy for social networks.

Efforts to improve and update the corporate website 

continued in 2011 with the renovation of sections such 

as “Impact on Development”. The digital versions of all 

the corporate brochures were also updated, and a new 

introductory leaflet on COFIDES was published and dis-

tributed in digital and hard copy format.

Foremost among the new promotional actions were 

institutional presentations to introduce COFIDES to 

CEIM (Madrid employers’ confederation) representa-

tives, the Madrid Chamber of Commerce and MPs rep-

resenting the various parliamentary groups. Another 

innovative approach was company sponsorship, to-

gether with ICEX, CESCE, ICO and Fundación Banesto, 

of the television programme “El Exportador”, which nar-

rates the international success of numerous Spanish 

companies. 

Lastly, COFIDES participated actively in events directly 

related to the furtherance of investment in different areas 

and industries. In this regard, company representatives, 

both in Spain and abroad, attended investment and 

business cooperation forums organised by a number of 

institutions, in particular ICEX, in cities such as Manila, 

Philippines; Doha, Qatar; Santiago de Chile, Chile; and 

Warsaw, Poland. COFIDES, in conjunction with Spain’s 

network of economic and trade offices abroad, also 

organised institutional presentations to introduce 

the company in Asuncion, Paraguay; Montevideo, 

Uruguay; Bogota, Colombia; Istanbul, Turkey; Quito and 

Guayaquil, Ecuador.

5.  BRANCH OFFICES

Since the company’s branches in Catalonia and Mexico 

perform duties in a number of phases of the project cy-

cle, their activity is closely related to several company ar-

eas. Hence, these offices perform not only commercial, 

but also institutional and advisory tasks and provide 

support for project analysis and monitoring. During the 

year, the branches made over 180 calls on potential cli-

ents, an indication of their intense proactive commercial 

activity. They also play a prominent role in monitoring 

the company’s portfolio.

6.  PROJECT MONITORING

In 2011, the Project Monitoring area continued to ac-

tively manage all the risks inherent in the funds under 

COFIDES management.

Significant action was taken in all portfolio opera-

tions. In particular, the intensification of visits to spon-

sors and projects helped identify and anticipate risks. 

The ratings for 90% of the total risk in the combined 

FIEX-FONPYME-COFIDES portfolio were reviewed 

and updated. 

A total of 74 reports were written in 2011, justifying 

outlays for a total of 134.7 million euros. These reports 

entailed increasingly elaborate methodology due to 

the growing number of complex operations, the ef-

fort underway to support SMEs and the substantial 

number of operations in countries with demanding 

administrative requirements, such as China and India. 

In 2011, priority continued to be given to operations 

experiencing difficulties; 19 proposals for reschedul-

ing were approved, along with 20 flexibility measures, 

for a total value of 162.9 million euros. Risk was re-

duced in this type of operations by recovering funds 

or raising collateral, or the financial conditions gov-

erning the operations were adapted to the new risk 

circumstances. 

In addition, several sponsors were involved in merger 

and acquisition operations, resulting in divestment of 

four loan and four equity capital operations for a total 

of 117.1 million euros. Worthy of note in this regard was 

the divestment of an open position equity capital op-

eration in Chile in the transport infrastructure industry 

that translated into considerable capital gains.

Finally, in 2011 a new operation rating system was im-

plemented and substantial resources were devoted 

to developing a new computer tool to improve the 

control and monitoring of the funds under COFIDES 

management, which is expected to be up and running 

in 2012.
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IN 2011, COFIDES APPROVED 19

PROPOSALS FOR RESCHEDULING AND

20 FLEXIBILITY MEASURES, FOR A SUM

OF 162.9 MILLION EUROS

7.  CREDIT RATING

As a result of the reclassification of Spain’s sovereign 

debt, in December 2011 Standard and Poor’s revised 

its rating for COFIDES to A/Negative/A-1.

Despite the reduction for long-term debt from an “A+” 

to an “A” investment grade, the resulting classifica-

tion means that the agency regarded COFIDES as a 

sound company fully able to meet its financial obliga-

tions. The agency also valued COFIDES’ high degree 

of capitalisation as a buffer to confront any risk that 

may derive from its operations.

Nonetheless, the Standard and Poor’s rating was not 

in effect on 31 December 2011, inasmuch as COFIDES 

decided not to renew its contract with the agency. In its 

stead, the company has since hired the rating services 

of Moody’s, another risk classification agency.

8.  FINANCIAL SITUATION ON 
 31/12/2011

The company generated a smaller volume of non-

recurrent revenues in 2011, which translated into a 

turnover of 21.72 million euros, down 13.8% with respect 

to the preceding year. At the same time, in 2011 operating 

expenses dropped by a significant 35.9%, while personnel 

expenses rose by 7.1%. The combined effect of these two 

items was a cut-back in spending on the order of 15.6%, 

to a total of 7.15 million euros. 

The company’s financial results improved, showing 

earnings of 0.61 million euros, up 76.8% over 2010.

The outcome of the foregoing was that the before tax 

profit for 2011, at 15.39 million euros, was slightly lower 

(3.8%) than in the preceding year. Nonetheless, thanks 

to the cautious and anticipatory policy of valuation cor-

rections based on each operation’s specific risk, the 

year’s corporation tax was significantly lower, raising 

the after tax income to a new historic high of 10.93 mil-

lion euros, 3.3% over the 2010 figure. 

By way of conclusion, financial year 2011 confirmed the 

company’s solvent and sound position in an extremely 

complex macroeconomic and financial environment. 

The year can therefore be regarded as much more than 

satisfactory in terms of results and the strengthening 

of corporate liquidity and equity.

AT 10.93 MILLION EUROS,

THE COMPANY’S AFTER-TAX

INCOME ESTABLISHED

A NEW RECORD
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 5

ASSETS Notes 2011 2010

 NON-CURRENT ASSETS   26,122 20,649
Intangible assets 5 385 472
 Patents, licences, trademarks and others  - -
 Software  335 161
 Advances on software  50 311
Non-current tangible assets 6 347 185
 Other facilities  194 50
 Furnishings  76 36
 Computer hardware  77 75
 Advances on tangible assets  - 24
Property Investments 7 - -
Long-term financial investments 11 25,390 19,992
 Equity instruments 10 30 78
 Loans to companies  23,881 19,829
	 Other	financial	instruments	 	 78	 85
 Accounts receivable, Funds  1,401 -

CURRENT ASSETS   55,139 51,390
Trade and other receivables 11 9,513 7,355
 Accounts receivable  1,293 3,128
 Accounts receivable, Funds  8,220 4,227
Short-term financial investments 11 35,693 30,127
 Loans to companies  5,446 5,204
 Interest outstanding on loans to companies  285 183
	 Other	financial	instruments	 	 29,814	 24,500
	 Interest	outstanding	on	other	financial	instruments	 	 148	 240
Short-term accrual accounts  20 70
Cash and cash equivalents 12 9,913 13,838

TOTAL ASSETS   81,261 72,039

Compañía Española DE FinanCiaCión DEl DEsaRRollo, CoFiDEs, s.a. 

Balance Sheet 
 on 31 December 2011

in thousand euros
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Notes 2011 2010

EQUITY    73,718 65,428
Share capital 13 39,396 39,396
Reserves  23,384 15,445
 Legal and statutory reserves  2,639 1,581
 Other reserves  20,745 13,864
Profit for the year  10,938 10,587

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   2,923 2,335
Long-term payables 15 2,923 2,335
 Bank borrowings  2,845 2,279
 Other debts  78 56

CURRENT LIABILITIES   4,620 4,276
Short-term payables 15 690 945
 Bank borrowings  690 945
Trade and other payables 15 3,270 2,852
 Sundry payables  179 422
	 Staff	(remuneration	outstanding)	 	 475	 488
 Current taxes 17 2,350 1,631
 Other tax payables 17 178 219
 Other debts  88 92
Short-term accrual accounts 16 660 479

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   81,261 72,039

Compañía Española DE FinanCiaCión DEl DEsaRRollo, CoFiDEs, s.a. 

Balance Sheet 
 on 31 December 2011

in thousand euros
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ONGOING OPERATIONS Notes 2011 2010
Net turnover 19.1 21,715 25,177
Personnel expenses	 19.2	 (4,277)	 (3,993)
	 Salaries	and	similar	 	 (3,382)	 (3,189)
	 Employee	welfare	 	 (895)	 (804)
Other operating expenses	 	 (3,287)	 (4,484)
	 External	services	 19.3	 (3,132)	 (3,143)
	 Taxes	 19.3	 (58)	 (48)
 Loss, impairment and variation in provisions for  
	 trade	operations	 11.1	and	11.2	 (97)	 (1,293)
Amortisation of non-current assets	 5,	6	and	7	 (268)	 (327)
Impairment on and results for disposal  
of equity instruments	 	 483	 (726)
Impairment on equity instruments	 10	 483	 (737)
 Results from disposals 10 - 11
Impairment and losses on disposal of non-current assets	 	 (9)	 (2)
	 Results	from	disposals	and	similar	 	 (9)	 (2)
Other results  12 -

OPERATING EARNINGS OR LOSS   14,369 15,645
Financial revenues  1,056 354
	 Tradable	securities	and	other	third	party	financial
 instruments 11 and 12 1,056 354
Financial expenses	 	 (63)	 (44)
	 Payable	to	financial	institutions	 	 (59)	 (39)
	 Other	third	party	payables	 	 (4)	 (5)
Exchange rate differences  28 35

FINANCIAL EARNINGS OR LOSS   1,021 345
	 	  	  
EARNINGS OR LOSS BEFORE TAXES   15,390 15,990
Tax	on	earnings	 17	 (4,452)	 (5,403)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR   10,938 10,587

Compañía Española DE FinanCiaCión DEl DEsaRRollo, CoFiDEs, s.a. 

Income Statement 
for the financial year ending on 31 December 2011

in thousand euros
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A)		 Statement	of	Revenues	and	Expenses	recorded	in	the	year	ending	on	31	December	2011

   2011  2010 
Profit	for	the	year		 	 10,938		 10,587	

TOTAL RECOGNIZED INCOME AND EXPENSE  10,938  10,587 

B)		 Statement	of	Total	Changes	in	Equity	for	the	year	ending	on	31	December	2011

  Share Legal Voluntary Profit for
  capital reserve reserve the year Dividends Total

Balance on 31 December 2009 39,396 1,405 12,285 1,755 - 54,841
Total recognised income and expense - - - 10,587 - 10,587
Distribution	of	2009	earnings	 -	 176	 1,579	 (1,755)	 -	 -
Balance on 31 December 2010 39,396 1,581 13,864 10,587 - 65,428
Total recognised income and expense - - - 10,938 - 10,938
Distribution	of	2010	earnings	 	 	 	 	 	
		 Reserves	 	 1,059	 6,880	 (7,939)	 (2,648)	 (2,648)
	 Dividends	 	 	 	 (2,648)	 2,648	 -

BALANCE ON 31 DECEMBER 2011 39,396 2,640 20,744 10,938 - 73,718

Compañía Española DE FinanCiaCión DEl DEsaRRollo, CoFiDEs, s.a. 

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the financial year ending on 31 December 2011

in thousand euros
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Compañía Española DE FinanCiaCión DEl DEsaRRollo, CoFiDEs, s.a. 

Cash Flow Statement
for the financial year ending on 31 December 2011

in thousand euros

  Notes 2011 2010
OPERATING CASH FLOW   
Earnings before taxes  15,390 15,990
Adjustments to profit	 	 (1,102)	 1,195
	 Depreciation	on	non-current	assets	(+)	 	5,	6	and	7		 268	 328
	 Adjustments	for	impairment	on	investments	(+/-)		 10	 (483)	 2,019
	 Variation	in	provisions	(+/-)	 	11.2	and	11.3		 97	
	 Results	for	retirements	and	alienation	of	non-current	assets	(+/-)	 	 9	 2
	 Financial	revenues	(-)	 	 (1,056)	 (1,163)
	 Financial	expenses	(+)	 	 63	 44
	 Exchange	rate	differences	(+/-)	 	 -	 (35)
Change in working capital	 	 (9,028)	 (26,105)
	 (Increase)/decrease	in	receivables	and	other	accounts	outstanding	receipt	 	 (1,577)	 (958)
	 (Increase)/decrease	in	other	current	liabilities	 	 (5,697)	 (24,486)
	 Increase/(decrease)	in	payables	and	other	accounts	outstanding	payment	 	 (301)	 (1,010)
	 Increase/(decrease)	in	other	current	liabilities	 	 181	 -
	 Other	non-current	assets	(+/-)	 	 (1,656)	 349
	 Other	non-current	liabilities	(+/-)	 	 22	 -
Other cash flow from operations	 	 (6,496)	 1,822
	 Interest	paid	(-)	 	 (63)	 -
	 Interest	received	(+)	 	 1,479	 -
	 Receipts	from	(payment	of)	corporation	tax	(+/-)	 	 (3,733)	 (4,042)
	 Other	payments	(receipts)	(-/+)	 	 (4,179)	 5,864
Operating cash flow   (1,236) (7,098)
INVESTMENT BUSINESS CASH FLOW   
Payments on investments (-) 	 (352)	 (228)
	 Intangible	assets	 5	 (102)	 (180)
	 Tangible	assets	 6	 (250)	 (47)
	 Other	assets	 	 -	 (1)
Receipts from divestments (+)  - 325
 Property Investments  - 325
Investment business cash flow   (352) 97
FINANCIAL CASH FLOW   
Receipts from (payments on) financial liabilities	 	 339	 (1,201)
Return and repayment of	 	 339	 (1,201)
	 Bank	loans	(-)	 	 339	 (1,201)
Dividend payments 	 	 (2,648)	 -
	 Dividends	 3.1	 (2,648)	
Financial cash flow   (2,309) (1,201)

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE VARIATIONS   (28) -

NET INCREASE/(DECLINE) IN CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS    (3,925) (8,202)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12 13,838 22,040
Cash and cash equivalents at year end 12 9,913 13,838
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notes to the Financial Statements

1. Nature of Company, Business Activity and Group Composition

Compañía	Española	de	Financiación	del	Desarrollo,	COFIDES	S.A.	(hereafter	the	company	or	COFIDES),	is	a	state-owned	
company	whose	corporate	purpose	is	to	provide	financial	support	for	private	direct	investment	projects	involving	Spanish	
interest and sited in developing or emerging countries. 

In	addition	to	deploying	 its	own	resources	to	meet	that	purpose,	 the	company	draws	from	various	financing	agreements	
concluded	with	State-owned	or	multilateral	financial	institutions.

Pursuant	to	Act	66/1997	of	30	December,	COFIDES	manages	the	Fund	for	Foreign	Investments	(FIEX	–	Spanish	acronym	for	
Fondo	para	Inversiones	en	el	Exterior)	and	the	Fund	for	Small	and	Medium-sized	Enterprise	Foreign	Investment	Operations	
(FONPYME,	Spanish	acronym	for	Fondo	para	Operaciones	de	Inversión	en	el	Exterior	de	la	Pequeña	y	Mediana	Empresa),	
on	 its	own	behalf	and	on	behalf	of	such	funds.	 In	addition,	 fund	activities	and	operations	are	governed	by	Royal	Decree	
1226/2006	of	27	October,	which	supersedes	previous	legislation.	Provisioned	yearly	from	the	national	budget,	both	FIEX	and	
FONPYME	pursue	the	internationalisation	of	Spanish	companies	and	the	Spanish	economy	in	general	through	syndicated	
financial	instruments	under	co-financing	arrangements	with	project	sponsors.

On	24	 January	 2000	a	 ten	million-dollar	 co-financing	 facility	was	 formalised	between	 the	Multilateral	 Investment	 Fund	
(FOMIN)	and	COFIDES	to	finance	investment	projects	undertaken	by	Spanish	SMEs	under	joint	venture	arrangements	in	all	
Latin American and Caribbean countries except Cuba. Although the facility was initially scheduled to remain live through 31 
July	2011,	that	date	was	later	set	back	to	31	December	2013	to	ensure	recovery	of	the	investment	in	company	projects	with	
a	subsequent	repayment	or	divestment	date.	That	notwithstanding,	the	line	was	closed	for	further	operations	in	financial	
year 2006.

The	company’s	 registered	office	 for	business	and	 tax	purposes	 is	 located	at	 132	Príncipe	de	Vergara	Street,	 12th	storey,	
Madrid,	Spain.

2. Criteria for Presenting Statements

2.1 True and fair view

The	 financial	 statements	 were	 drawn	 from	 COFIDES,	 S.A.’s	 accounts.	 The	 financial	 statements	 for	 2011	 were	 prepared	
pursuant	 to	 existing	 commercial	 legislation	 and	 in	 accordance	with	 the	 standards	 established	 in	 the	National	 Chart	 of	
Accounts	to	provide	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	company’s	financial	situation	on	31	December	2011,	as	well	as	of	the	results	of	
its	operations,	changes	in	its	equity	and	its	cash	flow	during	the	financial	year	ending	on	that	date.	

The	company’s	directors	deem	that	the	attached	financial	statements	for	2011	will	be	approved	by	the	General	Meeting	of	
Shareholders with no amendments whatsoever.

2.2 Comparative information

In	addition	to	the	figures	for	financial	period	2011,	the	present	financial	statements	include	the	figures	for	the	previous	year,	
2010,	reported	in	the	financial	statements	approved	at	the	General	Shareholders’	Meeting	held	on	26	April	2011,	for	each	item	
on	the	balance	sheet,	income	statement,	statement	of	changes	in	equity,	cash	flow	statement	and	the	respective	notes,	for	
the purposes of comparison.

Application of new rules

The	amendments	to	rules	or	new	rules	listed	below	were	applied	for	the	first	time	in	the	target	year.	This	should	be	borne	in	
mind for the intents and purposes of comparison with the preceding year.
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Information on delays in payment to suppliers 

On	29	December	2010,	 the	Accounting	and	Account	Auditing	 Institute	passed	a	Resolution	on	the	 information	deferred	
payment	 to	 suppliers	 in	 trade	 operations	 to	 be	 included	 in	 the	 statement	 of	 annual	 accounts.	 Its	 provisions	 were	 first	
applicable	in	2010.	Further	to	Transitional	Provision	Two	of	that	resolution,	for	financial	period	2010,	the	company	furnished	
only the information on the balance owed to suppliers to whom payment had been deferred beyond the legal deadline. 
Pursuant	 to	 rule	 three	of	 the	 resolution,	 the	notes	 to	 the	 financial	 statements	 for	 2011	must	 specify	 the	 total	 payments	
made	during	the	financial	period,	 indicating	the	outlays	that	exceeded	the	 legal	deadlines	as	well	as	the	weighted	mean	
postponement beyond the legal limit, in addition to the year end balance outstanding payment to suppliers and deferred 
beyond the legal deadline. Inasmuch as no information was furnished under this new requisite in the preceding year, the 
present statements constitute the initial year in this regard for the intents and purposes of the application of the principle of 
uniformity and compliance with the comparability requirement.

Change in accounting policies

The	company’s	primary	activity	consists	of	FIEX	and	FONPYME	fund	management	and	the	granting	of	 loans	on	 its	own	
behalf for private projects to enable Spanish concerns to establish abroad. In light thereof and in order to better provide a 
true and fair view of company income, the directors resolved that all management fees for the aforementioned funds and 
all	financial	revenues	accruing	from	loans	granted	by	the	company	should	be	included	as	part	of	its	“net	turnover”	on	the	
income statement. They likewise resolved that the rest of the revenues and expenses associated with such activities should 
be computed as part of the year’s operating income.

As	a	result	of	this	change	in	classification	in	the	2011	accounts,	the	directors	proceeded	to	reorganise	the	income	statement	
for	 the	 year	 ending	 on	 31	December	 2010.	 This	 impacted	 the	 following	 items	 in	 the	 accounts	 approved	 by	 the	General	
Meeting:	

•	 25.177-million	euro	increase	in	“Net	turnover”.
•	 24.368-million	euro	decrease	in	“Other	operating	revenues”.
•	 decrease	in	financial	earnings:	809,000	euros	and	1.328	million	euros	in	“Financial	earnings	from	returns	on	

loans”	and	“Impairment	on	and	results	for	disposal	of	financial	instruments”,	respectively.
•	 726,000-	 euro	 decrease	 in	 “Impairment	 on	 and	 results	 for	 disposal	 of	 equity	 instruments”	 under	 operating	

income.
•	 2.054-million	euro	increase	in	“Loss,	impairment,	and	variations	in	provisions	for	trade	operations”	under	other	

operating expenses. 

2.3 Critical aspects of the valuation and estimation of uncertainties and relevant 
judgements in the application of accounting policies

The	 preparation	 of	 the	 financial	 statements	 and	 application	 of	 the	 company’s	 accounting	 policies	 calls	 for	 significant	
decision-making in terms of accounting estimates, judgements, and assumptions. In this regard, the factors entailing 
greatest	discretion	or	complexity	or	in	which	the	assumptions	and	estimates	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	preparation	of	
the	financial	statements	are	summarised	below.

Adjustments for impairment on investments

The	company	has	a	specific	Project	Monitoring	Area	to	supervise	and	manage	the	risks	involved	in	its	commercial	financial	
operations,	one	of	whose	tasks	is	to	analyse	the	possible	impairment	of	the	quality	of	such	financial	instruments	throughout	
the	year	(see	Note	4.6.6).

2.4 Functional currency and reporting currency

The	company	presents	its	financial	statements	in	thousands	of	euros,	its	functional	and	reporting	currency,	rounded	to	the	
nearest thousand.

notes to the Financial Statements
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notes to the Financial Statements

3. Distribution of Earnings

3.1 Distribution of earnings

The	 distribution	 of	 earnings	 for	 the	 year	 ending	 on	 31	December	 2010,	 proposed	 by	 the	 directors	 and	 approved	 by	 the	
General	Meeting	of	Shareholders	on	26	April	2011,	was	as	itemised	below.

Euros 2010
Basis for distribution 
 Earnings for the year 10,587,417.56
Distribution	
	 Distribution	of	dividends	 2,648,220.00
 Legal reserve 1,058,741.76
 Voluntary reserve 6,880,455.80
TOTAL 10,587,417.56

The	distribution	of	earnings	proposed	by	the	directors	for	the	year	ending	on	31	December	2011,	outstanding	approval	by	the	
General	Meeting	of	Shareholders,	is	as	shown	below.

Euros 2011
Basis for distribution 
 Earnings for the year 10,938,070.58
Distribution	
 Legal reserve 1,093,807.06
 Voluntary reserve 9,844,263.52
TOTAL 10,938,070.58

3.2 Limitations on dividend payments

Ten	per	cent	of	a	company’s	yearly	profit	must	be	earmarked	for	the	legal	reserve	until	the	funds	so	provisioned	amount	to	
at least 20% of the share capital. Until that 20% minimum is reached, the funds in this reserve cannot be distributed among 
a	company’s	shareholders	(Note	13).

Once	the	sums	specified	by	Law	or	the	by-laws	are	covered,	dividends	may	only	be	distributed	against	the	year’s	profit	or	
freely available reserves providing the net equity is not, or as a result of the proposed dividend payment does not slide, below 
the	share	capital.	For	these	intents	and	purposes,	the	profit	directly	posted	as	net	equity	may	not	be	directly	or	indirectly	
used for dividend payments. If previous years’ losses lowered the company’s net equity to less than the value of its share 
capital,	any	profit	must	be	earmarked	to	offset	such	losses.	

4. Accounting and Valuation Criteria

The	accounting	and	valuation	criteria	used	by	the	company	to	draw	up	these	financial	statements	are	described	below.

4.1 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially valued at their purchase price or production cost.

After the initial valuation, they are valued at cost less cumulative amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, as 
appropriate.

Each intangible asset is analysed to determine whether its service life is limited or open-ended.

 4.1.1 Patents, licences, trademarks and others

The	sum	shown	for	“Patents,	licences,	trademarks	and	others”	on	31	December	2011	and	2010	reflects	the	sum	booked	
in connection with the company name or trade name.

 4.1.2 Software

Software	is	booked	at	its	purchase	price.	Maintenance	expenses	are	booked	when	incurred.
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 4.1.3 Service life and amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised by distributing the sum subject to amortisation evenly across the service life of the 
asset,	pursuant	to	the	following	criteria:

 Depreciation method Estimated service life (years)
Patents, licences, trademarks and others  Straight-line 10
Software Straight-line 4

For these intents and purposes, the sum subject to amortisation is understood to be the acquisition cost less the 
residual value, as appropriate.

The company revises the residual value, service life and amortisation method for intangible assets at least yearly, 
at	 the	end	of	 the	financial	year.	Any	amendments	 to	 the	criteria	 initially	established	are	posted	as	changes	 in	 the	
estimate.

 4.1.4 Impairment of non-current assets

The company assesses and corrects intangible assets for indications of impairment losses and reversal of such losses 
pursuant	to	the	criteria	set	out	in	Note	4.3.

4.2 Tangible assets  

 4.2.1 Initial value

Non-current	tangible	assets	are	booked	at	their	purchase	price	or	production	cost	and	carried	on	the	balance	sheet	at	
that value less depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, as appropriate.

 4.2.2 Depreciation

Non-current	tangible	assets	are	depreciated	by	distributing	the	sum	subject	to	depreciation	evenly	across	their	service	
life. For these intents and purposes, the sum subject to depreciation is understood to be the acquisition cost less the 
residual value. The company determines the depreciation costs for each asset.

Non-current	tangible	assets	are	depreciated	in	accordance	with	the	criteria	shown	below:

 Depreciation method Estimated service life (years) 
Other facilities Straight-line 10
Furnishings Straight-line 10
Computer hardware Straight-line 2-4

The company revises the residual value, service life and depreciation method for tangible assets at the end of each 
reporting period. Amendments to the criteria initially established are booked as changes in the estimate.

 4.2.3 Subsequent costs

Subsequent to the initial posting of an asset, only costs that entail an increase in its capacity, productivity or service 
life are capitalised. In this regard, the routine maintenance costs for non-current tangible assets are expensed against 
income when they are incurred.

 4.2.4 Impairment of asset value

The company assesses and corrects non-current tangible assets for indications of impairment losses and reversal of 
such	losses	pursuant	to	the	criteria	set	out	in	Note	4.3.

4.3 Impairment of the value of non-financial assets subject to amortisation or depreciation

The	company	is	alert	to	indications	that	might	denote	impairment	of	the	value	of	non-financial	assets	subject	to	amortisation	
or depreciation. The purpose of such monitoring is to verify whether their carrying value exceeds their recoverable value, 
understood to be the higher of their value in use, or the fair value, less costs of sale, that they can be expected to command.

notes to the Financial Statements
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After	the	impairment	loss	or	loss	reversal	is	posted,	subsequent	years’	amortisation/depreciation	is	based	on	the	new	book	
value.

That	notwithstanding,	if	analysis	of	the	specific	circumstances	of	any	given	asset	reveals	an	irreversible	loss,	such	loss	is	
expensed directly against losses on non-current assets and shown as such on the income statement.

Impairment losses are expensed against income.

4.4  Property investments

Under this heading, the company groups property totally or partially earmarked for generating income, capital gains or 
both. It does not include property intended for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for the company’s 
administrative purposes or sale in the ordinary course of operations.

In	financial	period	2009,	 the	courts	awarded	COFIDES	a	building	as	 repayment	of	a	 loan.	This	property	was	 listed	as	a	
property	investment	insofar	as	it	is	rented	to	third	parties.	The	property	in	question	was	sold	in	2010	(Note	7).

The company posts non-monetary assets awarded in payment of loans at the lower either of the book value of the loans plus 
all expenses incurred as a result of the operation, or the fair value of such non-cash assets.

4.5 Leases

Leases in which the lessor essentially transfers all risks and rewards incident to legal ownership to the lessee are regarded 
to	be	financial	leases;	all	others	are	classified	as	operational	leases.

 4.5.1 Lessor accounting

Revenues	from	operational	leases	are	posted	in	the	profit	and	loss	account	upon	accrual.	The	direct	costs	attributable	
to the lease are booked as an increase in the value of the leased asset and posted as an expense during the term of 
the lease, in keeping with the same criterion as used for posting revenues from leased property.

 4.5.2 Lessee accounting

The	company	has	been	assigned	entitlement	to	use	the	building	housing	its	offices	as	well	as	vehicles	for	its	staff	
under operational leases.

The rent paid for operational leases, net of incentives, is expensed evenly across the term of the lease.

4.6 Financial instruments

Classification and separation of financial instruments

When	 initially	 booked,	 financial	 instruments	 are	 classified	 as	 financial	 assets,	 financial	 liabilities	 or	 equity	 instruments,	
depending	on	the	economic	substance	of	the	respective	arrangements	and	in	accordance	with	the	definitions	of	financial	
asset,	financial	liability	and	equity	instrument.

The	 company	 classifies	 its	 financial	 instruments	 into	 different	 categories	 for	 valuation	 purposes,	 depending	 on	 their	
characteristics	and	Management’s	intention	when	they	are	initially	posted.

 4.6.1 Loans and accounts receivable

Loans and accounts receivable consist of loans for trade and non-trade operations that are not listed on a live market 
and	whose	settlement	involves	fixed	or	determinable	sums.	These	assets	are	initially	carried	at	fair	value,	including	the	
transaction	costs	incurred,	and	are	subsequently	valued	at	their	amortised	cost,	computed	using	the	effective	interest	
rate method. 

Nonetheless,	financial	instruments	with	no	established	interest	rate,	with	a	maturity	of	under	one	year	or	for	which	
repayment	 is	expected	 in	 the	short	 term	and	not	significantly	affected	by	possible	updating,	are	appraised	at	 face	
value.
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 4.6.2 Investments held through maturity

Investments held through maturity are debt securities with a set maturity date, involving fixed or determinable sums 
and traded on a live market, that the company fully intends and has sufficient capacity to hold through their maturity 
date, unlike securities classified under other categories. The valuation criteria applicable to financial instruments 
classified in this category are the same as applied to loans and accounts receivable.

 4.6.3 Other financial instruments carried at fair value

Investments in companies are initially carried at cost, which is the same as the fair value of the consideration 
including the transaction costs incurred, and subsequently valued at cost, less any accumulated impairment 
losses.

Although	the	company	holds	stakes	of	over	20%	in	some	firms,	as	these	are	support	investments	subject	to	repurchase	
agreements	by	a	specific	deadline,	they	are	not	consolidated	in	company	accounts.	Consequently,	they	are	neither	
regarded to be long-term investments nor is their management, which is not incumbent upon the company, integrated 
in	COFIDES’	overall	strategy.

 4.6.4 Interest

Interest	 is	 posted	 in	 keeping	 with	 the	 effective	 interest	 rate	 method	 and	 dividends	 when	 entitlement	 thereto	 is	
established.

 4.6.5 Disposal of financial instruments

Financial	 instruments	are	retired	from	the	books	when	the	right	 to	receive	cash	flows	related	thereto	expire	or	are	
transferred	and	the	company	has	effectively	disposed	of	any	risks	or	rewards	incident	to	legal	ownership.

The full retirement of a financial asset entails carrying the profit or loss resulting from the difference between its 
book value and the sum of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. The assets obtained or liabilities 
assumed and any deferred loss or gain in the company’s recognised income and expense, in turn, are included in 
its net equity.

 4.6.6 Impairment of financial instrument value

A	financial	instrument	or	group	of	financial	instruments	becomes	impaired,	generating	a	loss,	if	objective	evidence	of	
impairment is forthcoming. Such evidence consists of one or several events occurring after the instrument is initially 
booked	 that	 have	 a	 reliably	 estimable	 impact	 on	 the	 future	 cash	 flows	 calculated	 for	 the	 instrument	 or	 group	 of	
instruments.

In	2009	the	company	adopted	a	new	provisioning	policy	for	portfolio	impairment,	based	on	the	New	Basel	Capital	
Agreement	and	its	implementation	guidelines	set	out	in	Bank	of	Spain	Circular	2009/4.	Application	of	this	new	policy	
involves the institution of the following lines of action.

•	 Ongoing	 individualised	analysis	of	 the	 loan	portfolio	 in	 terms	of	 risk	quality.	This	policy	 is	based	on	 the	 in-
house rating of each operation and the security furnished to hedge the risk, further to the information furnished 
by	the	manager’s	Project	Monitoring	and	Analysis	and	Investment	Departments.	The	provision	ranges	from	a	
minimum of 0.10% to a maximum of 20%. The provisioning factors applied by the company for projects in the 
(A:	C-)	rating	range	are	presently	more	conservative	than	the	factors	established	by	the	Bank	of	Spain	for	such	
levels.

•	 Provisioning	of	 the	highest	 risks	at	 the	 rates	set	out	 in	Bank	of	Spain	Circular	4/2004,	since	 they	are	more	
demanding for non-performing projects.

•	 Application	of	the	existing	rating	schedule	for	impairment	to	equity	operations	with	a	fixed	provisioning	rate.
•	 Adjustment	for	foreign	currency	risk	in	the	event	of	default.
•	 Introduction	of	a	new	risk	status	(presumed	risk)	to	allow	for	a	certain	degree	of	flexibility	in	asset	valuations	in	

accordance	with	manager	experience	and	understanding,	providing	the	adjustment	is	suitably	justified.	Under	
this	new	risk	status,	provisioning	may	be	expedited,	case	by	case,	upon	the	first	indications	of	non-performance,	
possible	financial	difficulties,	lack	of	transparency	or	similar.	

•	 Adjustments	 in	 anticipation	 of	 risk	 rating	 agency	 trends.	 In	 certain	 situations	 and	 for	 specific	 projects,	 the	
tendency announced by a risk rating agency is included in the model to enhance its dynamics and adopt stricter 
precautions in scenarios of greater uncertainty. 

notes to the Financial Statements
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By	building	these	lines	of	action	into	the	methodology,	the	new	impairment	provisioning	policy	fortifies	its	preventive	
function	and	the	gradual	introduction	of	more	rigorous,	accurate	and	flexible	recognition	of	the	impairment	of	portfolio	
project value, in keeping with existing market standards.

In this regard, value in use is computed on the grounds of the company’s share in the current value of both the estimated 
cash	flow	from	ordinary	business	and	of	the	final	disposal	of	the	asset,	or	the	flows	expected	from	the	distribution	of	
dividends	and	final	divestment.

For equity instruments, value becomes impaired when the asset’s carrying value cannot be recovered due to a prolonged 
or	significant	decline	in	its	fair	value.

Impairment	loss	or	reversal	of	loss	is	posted	in	the	profit	and	loss	account.

4.7 Financial liabilities 

 4.7.1 Debits and payables

These	items	include	financial	liabilities	generated	by	the	purchase	of	goods	and	services	for	the	company’s	business	
and non-trade operation debits other than derivatives.

When initially posted on the balance sheet, they are carried at fair value which, barring evidence to the contrary, is the 
transaction price, i.e., the fair value of the consideration received adjusted for any transaction costs directly attributable 
thereto.

After	the	initial	post,	these	financial	liabilities	are	valued	at	their	amortised	cost.	The	interest	accruing	is	expensed	in	the	
profit	and	loss	account	in	accordance	with	the	effective	interest	rate	criterion.

That notwithstanding, trade operation debits with a maturity of not over one year that have no contractual interest rate, 
as well as outlays demanded by third parties on holdings whose sum is expected to be paid in the short term, are valued 
at	their	face	value	when	the	impact	of	failure	to	update	cash	flows	is	regarded	as	negligible.

 4.7.2 Security deposits

Security	deposits	established	as	a	 result	of	 leases	are	 valued	 in	accordance	with	 the	 criteria	described	 for	 financial	
instruments. 

 4.7.3 Retirements and modifications in financial liabilities

The	Company	retires	all	or	part	of	a	financial	liability	when	it	meets	the	obligation	inherent	in	the	liability	or	is	legally	
dispensed from the essential responsibility incident thereto, by virtue of a court ruling or by the creditor.

Any	difference	between	the	book	value	of	the	financial	liability,	or	any	part	thereof,	that	is	cancelled	or	assigned	to	a	third	
party, and the consideration paid, including any asset assigned other than cash or the liability assumed, is posted to the 
profit	and	loss	account.

4.8 Foreign exchange transactions, balances and flows

Foreign	exchange	transactions	are	converted	to	euros	at	the	cash	exchange	rate	in	effect	on	the	date	of	the	transaction.	

Monetary	and	non-monetary	assets	and	liabilities	denominated	in	foreign	currencies	are	converted	to	euros	at	the	exchange	
rate	in	effect	at	year	end.

Non-monetary	assets	carried	at	fair	value	are	converted	to	euros	at	the	exchange	rate	in	effect	at	year	end.

In	the	cash	flow	statement,	flows	from	foreign	exchange	transactions	are	converted	to	euros	at	the	cash	exchange	rate	in	effect	
on the date of the transaction. 

The	positive	and	negative	differences	arising	 in	foreign	currency	transaction	settlements	and	in	the	conversion	to	euros	of	
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are booked against results.

Exchange	rate	losses	or	gains	on	non-monetary	financial	assets	and	liabilities	assessed	at	fair	value	are	posted	together	with	
variations	in	such	fair	value.	That	notwithstanding,	the	exchange	rate	variation	component	in	non-monetary	financial	assets	
denominated	in	foreign	currency	is	booked	against	results	when	the	assets	are	classified	as	saleable	and	fair	value	hedging	is	
in	place	for	such	component.	The	rest	of	the	variation	in	fair	value	is	posted	as	described	in	Note	4.6	(Financial	instruments).
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4.9 Cash and cash equivalents

This item includes cash at hand and in current accounts and deposits, as well as temporary acquisitions of assets that meet 
all the following requirements.

•	 They	can	be	converted	to	cash.	
•	 Their	maturity	at	purchase	was	not	over	three	months.
•	 They	are	subject	to	no	significant	risk	of	change	in	value.
•	 They	form	part	of	the	company’s	standard	cash	management	policy.

For	the	intents	and	purposes	of	cash	flow,	any	overdrafts	forming	part	of	the	company’s	cash	management	practice	are	carried	
as less cash and other equivalent liquid assets.

4.10  Short-term remuneration for employees

The	expected	cost	of	short-term	remuneration	is	posted	as	the	services	that	afford	employees	entitlement	thereto	are	rendered.	

The	company	books	the	expected	cost	of	employee	profit	sharing	or	incentive	plans	when	a	present,	legal	or	implicit,	obligation	
exists as a result of past events and the value of the obligation can be reliably estimated.

4.11  Severance pay

Severance	payments	are	booked	as	soon	as	a	detailed	formal	plan	is	in	place	and	the	staff	affected	has	been	notified	of	the	intention	to	
terminate the employment relationship, either because the plan is underway or because its chief characteristics have been announced.

Pursuant to the existing labour legislation, under certain circumstances, the company is bound to pay severance upon 
termination	of	employment.	Severance	pay	that	can	be	reliably	quantified	is	expensed	in	the	year	in	which	the	company	has	
created a valid expectation in respect of the parties concerned. 

4.12  Provisions

Provisions	are	posted:	when	the	company	incurs	an	obligation,	be	it	legal,	contractual,	implicit	or	tactical,	as	the	result	of	a	past	
event;	when	an	outlay	of	resources	from	future	earnings	is	likely	to	be	needed	to	meet	such	obligation;	and	when	the	sum	of	
the obligation can be reliably estimated. 

The	financial	effects	of	such	provisions	are	posted	in	the	profit	and	loss	account	as	financial	expenses.

Provisions	include	neither	the	fiscal	effects	nor	the	earnings	expected	from	the	sale	or	abandonment	of	assets.

Provisions	are	reversed	against	results	when	it	becomes	unlikely	that	outflows	will	be	required	to	cancel	the	obligation.

4.13  Tax on earnings

Expenses or revenues under this item include both current and deferred taxes on earnings.

Current tax assets or liabilities are assessed as the sums expected to be paid to or refunded by tax authorities, further to the 
legislation	and	tax	rates	in	effect	or	approved	and	pending	publication	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year.

The current or deferred tax on earnings is posted against results, unless it is the consequence of a combination of operations 
or of a transaction or economic event recorded against equity in the same or another reporting period.

Timing adjustments are systematically posted, barring the exceptions laid down in the existing legislation, while deductible 
timing	adjustments	are	recorded	whenever	they	are	likely	to	be	offset	by	future	positive	taxable	income.

Deductible	timing	adjustments	are	recorded	whenever	future	positive	taxable	income	is	likely	to	be	large	enough	to	offset	such	
adjustments.

Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	estimated	at	the	tax	rates	that	will	be	applicable	in	the	years	when	the	assets	are	expected	
to be refunded or the liabilities to be paid.

Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	carried	on	the	balance	sheet	as	non-current	assets	or	liabilities,	regardless	of	the	expected	
refund or payment date.

notes to the Financial Statements
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4.14  Classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities

The	company	classifies	assets	and	liabilities	as	current	when	it	expects	settlement	to	be	forthcoming	in	its	normal	operating	
cycle. They are recorded primarily for the purposes of negotiation and their expected date of liquidation is within twelve months 
of closing.

Financial	liabilities	are	classified	as	current	when	they	must	be	settled	within	twelve	months	of	closing,	even	if	the	original	term	
is	for	a	period	of	more	than	twelve	months,	and	when	long-term	refinancing	or	payment	restructuring	arrangements	are	in	place	
that	expire	after	the	end	of	the	financial	year	but	before	the	financial	statements	are	prepared.

4.15  Revenues and expenses

Revenues and expenses resulting from increases or decreases in the company’s resources are recorded on an accrual basis in 
the target year, providing the sum thereof can be reliably determined.

Ordinary management revenues are booked at the fair value of the consideration received or to be received, in proportion to 
the	fraction	of	the	service	provided	by	the	end	of	the	financial	year.

The company posts the ordinary revenues and costs associated with the operations in which it acts as mere manager, collecting 
the sums involved on behalf of the funds managed. In these operations only the fees earned are booked as ordinary revenues. 
It posts the ordinary revenues from fees and interest costs associated with the loans granted against its own resources in 
keeping with the same criteria.

4.16  Related party transactions

Related party transactions are booked in accordance with the valuation standards described above.

Since the costs of related party operations are comfortably accommodated, the company’s directors deem that they entail no 
risk	of	losses	that	would	generate	significant	tax	credits.
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5. Intangible Assets

The	entries	under	the	items	comprising	“Intangible	non-current	assets”	are	summarised	below.

Thousand euros 2011
  Patents, licences,  Advances on

 
trademarks   computer 

 and others Software software Total

Cost on 1 January 2011 2 1,277 311 1,590
Acquisitions - 61 41 102
Retirements	 -	 (1)	 -	 (1)
Transfers	 -	 302	 (302)	 -
Cost on 31 December 2011 2 1,639 50 1,691
Accumulated	amortisation	on	1	January	2011	 (2)	 (1,116)	 -	 (1,118)
Acquisitions	 -	 (189)	 -	 (189)
Retirements - 1 - 1
Transfers - - - -
Accumulated amortisation on 31 December 2011 (2) (1,304) - (1,306)

Net book value on 31 December 2011 - 335 50 385

Thousand euros 2010
  Patents, licences,  Advances on

 
trademarks   computer 

 and others Software software Total

Cost on 1 January 2010 2 1,277 49 1,328
Acquisitions - - 262 262
Retirements - - - -
Transfers - - - -
Cost on 31 December 2010 2 1,277 311 1,590
Accumulated	depreciation	on	1	January	2010	 (2)	 (866)	 -	 (868)
Acquisitions	 -	 (250)	 -	 (250)
Retirements - - - -
Transfers - - - -
Accumulated depreciation on 31 December 2010 (2) (1,116) - (1,118)

Net book value on 31 December 2010 - 161 311 472

5.1 Totally amortised assets

The	cost	of	totally	amortised	intangible	assets	still	in	use	on	31	December	is	as	follows:

Thousand euros 2011 2010
Patents, licences, trademarks and others   2  2 
Software   1,183  683 
TOTAL   1,185  685 

5.2  Insurance

The company has a number of insurance policies to cover the risks to its intangible assets. The cover provided by these policies 
is	regarded	as	sufficient.

5.3  Other information

No	non-current	asset	purchase	and	sale	transactions	have	been	concluded	with	group	companies.

On	31	December	2011,	the	purchase	commitments	in	place	in	connection	with	the	project	to	renew	the	financial	management	
system amounted to 193,000 euros.

notes to the Financial Statements
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On	31	December	2010,	the	company	had	intangible	asset	purchase	commitments	for	321,000	euros	in	connection	with	the	
renewal	of	its	computerised	financial	management	systems	(e-Front	project),	under	a	contract	with	an	estimated	5-year	term	
and a total cost of 632,000 euros, including maintenance.

6. Tangible Assets

The	entries	under	the	items	comprising	“Tangible	non-current	assets”	are	summarised	below.

Thousand euros 2011
 Other  Computer

 facilities Furnishings hardware Advances Total
Cost on 1 January 2011 273 239 284 24 820
Acquisitions 165 62 23  250
Retirements	 (69)	 (46)	 (50)	 -	 (165)
Transfers	 4	 (4)	 24	 (24)	 -
Cost on 31 December 2011 373 251 281 - 905
Accumulated	depreciation	on	1	January	2011	 (223)	 (203)	 (209)	 -	 (635)
Acquisitions	 (20)	 (14)	 (45)	 -	 (79)
Retirements 64 42 50 - 156
Transfers - - - - -
Accumulated depreciation on 31 December 2011 (179) (175) (204) - (558)

Net book value on 31 December 2011 194 76 77 - 347

Thousand euros 2010
 Other  Computer

 facilities Furnishings hardware Advances Total
Cost on 1 January 2010 276 241 295 - 812
Acquisitions - 1 22 24 47
Retirements	 (3)	 (3)	 (33)	 -	 (39)
Transfers - - - - -
Cost on 31 December 2010 273 239 284 24 820
Accumulated	depreciation	on	1	January	2010	 (207)	 (193)	 (197)	 -	 (597)
Acquisitions	 (18)	 (12)	 (45)	 -	 (75)
Retirements 2 2 33 - 37
Transfers - - - - -
Accumulated depreciation on 31 December 2010 (223) (203) (209) - (635)

Net book value on 31 December 2010 50 36 75 24 185

6.1  Totally depreciated assets

The	cost	of	totally	depreciated	tangible	assets	still	in	use	on	31	December	is	as	follows.

Thousand euros   2011 2010
Other facilities   57 97
Furnishings   97 120
Computer hardware   151 124
TOTAL   305  341 

6.2 Insurance

The company has a number of insurance policies to cover the risks to its tangible assets. The cover provided by these policies 
is	regarded	as	sufficient.

6.3 Other information

No	purchase	-	sale	transactions	involving	non-current	assets	were	concluded	with	group	companies.

On	31	December	2011	and	2010	the	company	had	no	commitments	to	purchase	tangible	assets.	



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS22

7. Property Investments

The	entries	under	the	items	comprising	“Property	investments”	are	summarised	below.

Thousand euros 2010
  Land Construction Total

Cost on 1 January 2010  168 99 267
Retirements	 	 (168)	 (99)	 (267)
Cost on 31 December 2010  - - -
Accumulated depreciation on 1 January 2010  - - -
Acquisitions	 	 -	 (2)	 (2)
Retirements  - 2 2
Accumulated	depreciation	on	31	December	2010	 	 -	 -	 -
Net book value on 31 December 2010  - - -

On	26	October	2009,	Court	of	First	Instance	No.	2	at	Vic	delivered	a	sentence	awarding	the	company	property	located	at	
Santa Eulalia de Riuprimer, in the Spanish province of Barcelona, as the result of foreclosure on a mortgage. The award value 
of the said property was 241,000 euros. The building was rented to third parties.

The company recorded the property at the award value plus all the expenses incurred as a result of the operation. 

In 2010 the company booked rental revenue for a sum of 5,000 euros.

On 31 July 2010, the company sold that real estate investment for 325,000 euros. The return was booked in the context of a 
foreclosure to repay a loan and not as the separate sale of a real estate investment.

No	similar	operations	were	forthcoming	in	2011.

8. Risk Policy and Management

8.1 Financial risk factors.

The	company’s	business	is	exposed	to	foreign	currency,	credit,	liquidity	and	cash	flow	interest	rate	risks.	Globally	speaking,	
its risk management focuses on the uncertainty of the economic environment and attempts to minimise the potentially 
adverse	effects	of	that	environment	on	its	own	financial	profitability.	

Risk	management	 is	 incumbent	upon	 the	company’s	 Investment	and	Economic-Financial	Management	Divisions,	which	
implement	the	policies	adopted	by	the	Board	of	Directors,	and	more	specifically,	the	policies	laid	down	in	the	company’s	
Operating	 Criteria.	 The	 Investment	 Division	 identifies,	 assesses	 and	 itemises	 the	 financial	 risks	 in	 new	 proposals	 for	
operations	submitted	to	the	company.	The	Economic-Financial	Division’s	Project	Monitoring	Area	manages	live	financial	
risks	in	financial	operations	underway,	with	a	view	to	anticipating	future	contingencies.

 8.1.1 Credit risk

In	keeping	with	the	provisions	of	its	Operating	Criteria,	the	company	has	not	incurred	in	any	significant	concentration	
of	credit	risk.	It	implements	policies	able	to	accurately	assess	its	financing	operations	and	ensure	that	all	its	clients	
have a suitable credit history.

Corrections	in	valuations	due	to	client	 insolvency	entail	a	fair	amount	of	discretion	on	the	part	of	Management,	as	
well as a revision of individual balances based on client credit ratings, current market trends and a historical analysis 
of	aggregate	 insolvencies.	 The	country-specific	 component	 in	 corrections	of	 individual	 valuations	 is	based	on	 the	
country’s credit rating drawn from information furnished by external agencies. In corrections in valuations deriving 
from	an	aggregate	analysis	of	default	history,	a	reduction	in	the	size	of	the	balance	implies	a	reduction	in	valuation	
corrections, and vice-versa.

 8.1.2 Foreign currency risk

Since	the	company	operates	internationally,	some	of	its	operations	are	exposed	to	foreign	currency	risk,	specifically	
as regards the U.S. dollar. Foreign currency or exchange rate risk is incurred in forward trade transactions, booked 
assets and liabilities, and net investments in business abroad.

notes to the Financial Statements
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The	company	has	a	refinancing	line	denominated	in	U.S.	dollars	with	the	Official	Credit	Institute,	one	of	its	shareholders,	
to	hedge	its	foreign	currency	risk.	Under	this	formula,	all	loans	to	its	clients	are	refinanced	under	borrowings	charged	
to that line.

 8.1.3 Liquidity risk

The	 company	 conducts	 prudent	 liquidity	 risk	 management,	 maintaining	 sufficient	 cash	 and	 marketable	 securities,	
guaranteeing	the	availability	of	financing	for	a	sufficient	sum	under	credit	facility	commitments,	and	retaining	sufficient	
capacity to unwind market positions. 

9. Operational Leases - Lessee 

The company leases the buildings where it conducts its ordinary business and as well as vehicles for its employees from third 
parties.	Specifically,	it	holds	leases	for	its	head	and	branch	offices	and	two	vehicles.

The rent paid under operating leases and booked as an expense is shown below.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
Buildings   621 664
Vehicles   11 13
Others   10 11
TOTAL   642 688

The minimum future payments in euros for non-cancellable operating leases are given below. 

Thousand euros 2011 2010
Up to one year   618 649
From	one	to	five	years	 	 	 2,740	 2,299
Over	five	years	 	 	 -	 -
TOTAL   3,358 2,948

10. Equity Instrument Investments 

The	fair	value	of	equity	instrument	investments	classified	as	“Other	financial	instruments	carried	at	fair	value”	can	be	broken	
down as shown in the table below.

Thousand euros 2011
        Net book
Company Country Business % Holding Cost Impairment value of holding
Indelor	Lens	(Thailand),	Co.	Ltd.	 Thailand	 (i)	 21.6	 674	 (674)	 -
European	Financing	Partners	 Luxembourg	 (ii)	 -	 6	 -	 6
CSC	Transmetal	S.R.L.	 Romania	 (iii)	 4.17	 25	 (7)	 18
Interact	Climate	Change	Facility,	S.A.	 Luxembourg	 (iv)	 13	 6	 -	 6
TOTAL    711 (681) 30

Thousand euros 2010
       Net book
Company Country Business % Holding Cost Impairment value of holding
Indelor	Lens	(Thailand),	Co.	Ltd.	 Thailand	 (i)	 21.6	 1,210	 (1,159)	 51
European	Financing	Partners	 Luxembourg	 (ii)	 -	 6	 -	 6
CSC	Transmetal	S.R.L.	 Romania	 (iii)	 4.17	 25	 (4)	 21
TOTAL    1,241 (1,163) 78

(i) Optics
(ii) Financial intermediation for Asian, Caribbean and Pacific countries in conjunction with COFIDES’s European partners (EFP projects)
(iii) Precision sheet metal working, press-forming and tooling, design and assembly of metal and electronic items
(iv) Financial intermediation in environmental projects for Asian, Caribbean and Pacific countries
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The equity instruments listed in the above tables for 2011 and 2010 whose fair value cannot be reliably estimated are valued at 
cost less the cumulative sum of corrections to adjust for impairment of their value, as appropriate.

Moreover,	all	equity	capital	operations	are	subject	to	a	minimum	divestment	charge,	established	in	the	agreement	with	the	
respective shareholders. 

In foreign holdings, the functional currency is the currency of the countries where the companies are headquartered. In addition, 
the net investment in holdings concurs with the book value of the investment.

ROCAS CHILE, S.A.

In 2010 the company sold its holding in ROCAS CHILE S.A., a business located in Chile. The total revenue for this sale, 145,000 
euros, generated capital gains of 11,000 euros.

INDELOR LENS (THAILAND) CO., LTD (INDELOR LENS)

On	1	January	2011,	the	company	had	a	1,210,000-euro	investment	in	INDELOR	LENS	(THAILAND)	CO.,	LTD	(hereafter	INDELOR	
LENS),	equivalent	to	a	21.6%	holding	in	its	share	capital	(provisioned	at	1,159,000	euros).	COFIDES	also	had	a	put	option	for	
that	holding,	by	virtue	of	which	INDO	INTERNACIONAL,	S.A.	(hereafter	INDO)	was	bound	to	purchase	the	respective	shares.

In	addition,	the	company	had	granted	an	ordinary	loan	to	INDELOR	LENS	which	on	1	January	2011	amounted	to	693,000	euros	
and was recovered in full during the target year.

INDO	had	 sought	 composition	with	 creditors	 in	 2010.	On	25	February	 2011,	 a	 settlement	was	 reached	 in	which	COFIDES	
committed	to	waiving	its	loan	under	INDO’s	composition	with	creditors	subject	to	third	party	purchase	of	its	INDELOR	LENS	
assets.	That	purchase	was	formalised	on	28	April	2011,	whereby	part	of	 the	 investment	 (536,000	euros)	was	recovered	via	
capital reductions on the part of all the shareholders. The aforesaid operation reversed the provision for impairment in 2011 for 
the	sum	of	483,000	euros.	INDELOR	LENS	is	presently	being	wound	up.

INTERACT CLIMATE CHANGE FACILITY, S.A. (ICCF)

In	2011	the	company,	in	conjunction	with	other	European	development	institutions	(European	Investment	Bank,	EIB;	Agence	
Française	de	Développement,	AFD;	and	the	bilateral	European	Development	Finance	Institutions)	founded	INTERACT	CLIMATE	
CHANGE	FACILITY,	S.A.	(hereafter	ICCF).	The	purpose	of	this	institution	is	to	finance	private	sector	investment	projects	that	
prevent	or	reduce	greenhouse	gas	emissions	in	ACP	(Africa,	Caribbean	and	Pacific)	and	ODA	(Official	Development	Assistance)	
countries.

The	company	and	FIEX	have	committed	to	provide	ICCF	with	up	to	a	total	of	5	million	euros	under	co-financing	arrangements.
 
No	outlay	had	been	made	by	31	December	2011,	although	funds	had	been	committed	for	three	specific	projects	involving	a	total	
of	1,932,000	euros	(966,000	of	which	from	COFIDES).
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11. Financial Instruments

The	composition	of	the	company’s	“Financial	instruments”	on	31	December	was	as	stipulated	below.

Debt
securities

Loans, 
derivatives 
and others

Total
Equity

instruments
(Note 10)

 
 Non-   Non-  Non-  Non- 
 current Current  current Current current Current current Current

Thousand euros
Financial year 2011        
Other	financial	instruments	carried	at	fair	value	 30	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 30	 -
Loans and accounts receivable - - 23,881 5,446 1,479 21,946 25,360 27,392
Investments held through maturity - - - 17,814 - - - 17,814
 30 - 23,881 23,260 1,479 21,946 25,390 45,206

Financial year 2010
Other	financial	instruments	carried	at	fair	value	 78	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 78	 -
Loans and accounts receivable - - 19,829 5,204 85 32,278 19,914 37,482
Investments held through maturity - - - - - - - -
  78 - 19,829 5,204 85 32,278 19,992 37,482

These sums are broken down on the balance sheet as follows.

Debt
securities

Loans, 
derivatives 
and others

Total
Equity

instruments
(Note 10)

 
 Non-   Non-  Non-  Non- 
 current Current  current Current current Current current Current

Thousand euros
Financial year 2011
Long-term financial investments        
Equity instruments 30 - - - - - 30 -
Loans to companies - - 23,881 - - - 23,881 -
Other	financial	instruments	 -	 -	 -	 -	 78	 -	 78	 -
Accounts receivable, Funds - - - - 1,401 - 1,401 -
Trade and other receivables        
Accounts receivable - - - - - 1,293 - 1,293
Accounts receivable, Funds - - - - - 8,220 - 8,220
Short-term financial investments        
Loans to companies - - - 5,446 - - - 5,446
Interest accruing on loans to companies - - - - - 285 - 285
Other	financial	instruments	 -	 -	 -	 17,814	 -	 12,000	 -	 29,814
Interest	accruing	on	other	financial	instruments	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 148	 -	 148
  30 - 23,881 23,260 1,479 21,946 25,390 45,206
Financial year 2010        
Long-term financial investments        
Equity instruments 78 - - - - - 78 -
Loans to companies - - 19,829 - - - 19,829 -
Other	financial	instruments	 -	 -	 -	 -	 85	 -	 85	 -
Accounts receivable, Funds - - - - - - - -
Trade and other receivables        
Accounts receivable - - - - - 3,119 - 3,119
Accounts receivable, Funds - - - - - 4,236 - 4,236
Short-term financial investments       - -
Loans to companies - - - 5,204 - - - 5,204
Interest accruing on loans to companies - - - - - 183 - 183
Other	financial	instruments	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 24,500	 -	 24,500
Interest	accruing	on	other	financial	instruments	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 240	 -	 240
 78 - 19,829 5,204 85 32,278 19,992 37,482
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11.1  Debt securities

 11.1.1 Loans and accounts receivable

Loans	are	granted	under	financing	agreements	concluded	with	third	parties	to	further	private	projects	involving	Spanish	
interest and sited in developing countries. In addition to using its own resources, the company may grant these loans 
through	financing	agreements	with	other	public	financial	institutions.	The	term	of	these	loans	as	well	as	the	interest	rate	
and any security required are individually stipulated in the agreement concluded for each loan.

The	variations	in	the	loan	figures	in	the	target	year	are	listed	below.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
 Non-current  Current Non-current  Current
Cost on 1 January 22,271 5,863 29,516 7,669
Increases  11,301 - 4,147 -
Decreases	 (729)	 (5,863)	 (5,529)	 (7,669)
Transfer	from	long-	to	short-term		 (6,221)	 6,221	 (5,863)	 5,863
Cost	on	31	December	 26,622	 6,221	 22,271	 5,863
Impairment	of	cumulative	value	 (2,741)	 (775)	 (2,442)	 (659)
Net book value on 31 December  23,881 5,446 19,829 5,204

At	year	end	2011,	the	loans	granted	and	outstanding	outlay	amounted	to	2,745,000	euros	(compared	to	1,893,000	euros	
at	year	end	2010).

A list of yearly maturities for the loans is itemised below.

Thousand euros    2011 2010
2011   - 5,863
2012   6,221 5,951
2013   6,461 5,406
2014   6,484 4,211
2015   5,927 3,633
Subsequent years   7,750 3,070

    32,843 28,134

The	fair	value	of	these	loans,	calculated	using	the	discounted	cash	flow	method,	is	similar	to	their	book	value.

As	a	general	rule,	the	loans	granted	by	COFIDES	are	secured	by	real	or	personal	collateral,	depending	on	the	case,	to	
mitigate the risk assumed.

In	2011	these	loans	generated	financial	revenues	of	1,087,000	euros	(814,000	euros	in	2010),	Note	19.1.	At	year	end	2011,	
the	interest	accrued	and	outstanding	receipt	amounted	to	285,000	euros	(compared	to	183,000	euros	at	year	end	2010).

The	valuation	correction	entries	in	the	accounts	on	31	December	are	shown	below.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
 Non-current  Current Non-current  Current
Impairment	loss	on	1	January		 (2,442)	 (659)	 (3,108)	 (2,092)
Increases		 (1,407)	 -	 (848)	 (1,058)
Decreases		 -	 992	 810	 3,150
Pay	offs		 -	 -	 45	 -
Transfer	from	long-	to	short-term		 1,108	 (1,108)	 659	 (659)
Accumulated impairment loss on 31 December  (2,741) (775) (2,442) (659)

The valuation corrections listed in the following table were calculated using the methodology applicable to each project 
as	described	in	Note	4.6.6.
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11.1.2 Investments held through maturity

On	31	December	2011,	the	list	of	investments	held	through	maturity	was	as	follows.

  Yearly    Face value Discount Amortised cost
  interest Date Maturity (thousand (thousand (thousand
 Type of investment rate formalised date euros) euros) euros)

Treasury	bills	 2.46%	 23/12/2011	 22/06/2012	 3,000	 36	 2,964
Treasury	bills	 1.75%	 23/12/2011	 23/03/2012	 3,000	 14	 2,986
Treasury	bills	 3.15%	 28/10/2011	 20/04/2012	 4,000	 60	 3,940
Commercial	paper,	Unión	Fenosa	 1.96%	 31/10/2011	 25/04/2012	 4,000	 38	 3,962
Commercial	Paper,	Red	Eléctrica	
Corporación	SA	 1.915%	 31/10/2011	 30/04/2012	 4,000	 38	 3,962
Total     18,000 186 17,814

11.2  Loans, derivatives and others – Loans and accounts receivable

The	items	under	this	heading	on	31	December	were	as	follows.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
 Non-current Current Non-current Current
Trade	accounts	receivable:	 1,401	 9,513	 -	 7,355
Other	financial	investments	 	 	 	
	 Interest	accruing	on	loans	to	companies	(Note	11.1.1)	 -	 285	 -	 183
	 Other	financial	instruments	 78	 12,000	 85	 24,500
	 Interest	accruing	on	other	financial	instruments	 -	 148	 -	 240
   1,479 21,946 85 32,278

11.2.1  Trade accounts receivable

The breakdown for trade accounts receivable is given below.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
  Non-current  Current Non-current  Current
Accounts receivable - 4,916 - 7,734
Accounts receivable, Funds 1,664 8,220 - 4,236
  1,664 13,136 - 11,970
Impairment,	trade	accounts	receivable	 (263)	 (3,623)	  	 (4,615)
 Total trade receivables 1,401 9,513 - 7,355

The	entries	in	2011	and	2012	in	“Impairment	of	trade	accounts	receivable”	are	summarised	below.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
 Non-current  Current Non-current  Current
Balance on 1 January 	 -	 (4,615)	 -	 (1,268)
Net	appropriations	 (263)	 581	 -	 (3,347)
Applications - 411 - -
Balance on 31 December  (263) (3,623) - (4,615)

“Accounts	receivable”	refers	primarily	to	the	sums	due	and	outstanding	receipt	on	third	party	loans,	in	connection	with	
the	operations	specified	in	Note	11.1.1	above.

“Accounts	receivable,	Funds”	includes	accrued	and	outstanding	management	and	other	service	charges	in	connection	
with	the	FONPYME	ad	FIEX	funds.

11.2.2 Other financial instruments

Non-current

“Other	(non-current)	financial	 instruments”	 includes	78,000	euros	at	year	end	2011	(85,000	euros	at	year	end	2010),	
consisting	primarily	of	security	deposits	established	in	connection	with	the	company’s	leases,	as	specified	in	Note	9.
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Current

At	year	end	2010	and	2011,	the	sum	in	“Other	(current)	financial	instruments”	consisted	of	certificates	of	deposits	with	
terms	of	under	one	year.	The	list	of	deposits	on	31	December	2011	is	given	below.

   Yearly     Interest  
   interest Date Maturity Certificates accrued
 Type  rate formalised date of deposit and outstanding

Financial year 2011:
Certificates	of	deposit,	Banesto	 	 3.250%	 20/10/2011	 20/01/2012	 8,000,000	 52,000
Certificates	of	deposit,	Banco	Sabadell	 	 2.950%	 07/10/2011	 05/01/2012	 4,000,000	 27,803
Total        12,000,000 79,803

11.3  Sums denominated in foreign currency

The	breakdown	of	the	total	monetary	financial	instruments	denominated	in	foreign	currency	(U.S.	dollars)	is	as	shown	below.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
Long-term financial investments:
 Loans to companies   3,001 2,221
Total non-current assets   3,001 2,221
Short-term trade and other receivables:	  	  
 Accounts receivable   338 203
Short-term financial investments:	  	  
 Loans to companies   374 702
 Interest accruing on loans to companies    23 12
Cash and cash equivalents:	  	  
 Cash in bank   130 69
Total current assets   865 986

Total financial instruments in foreign currency   3,866 3,207

The	EUR/USD	exchange	rate	at	year	end	2011	and	2010	was	1.2939	and	1.3362,	respectively.

12. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The	sum	under	the	caption	“Cash	and	cash	equivalents”	on	31	December	is	itemised	in	the	following	table.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
Cash and demand accounts 734 588
Highly liquid short-term investments 9,179 13,250
  9,913 13,838

The	caption	“Highly	liquid	short-term	investments”	includes	deposits	in	credit	institutions	with	maturities	of	under	3	months	
that pay market rate interest.

13. Shareholders’ Equity

The	composition	of	and	entries	in	“Shareholders’	equity”	are	given	in	the	statement	on	changes	in	equity.

13.1  Share capital

The	company’s	share	capital	on	31	December	2011	and	2010	consisted	of	6,555	registered,	subscribed	and	paid-up	shares	with	
a face value of 6,010.12 euros each. All shares have the same political and economic rights and are freely transferable.
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The companies with direct holdings in the company’s share capital are listed below.

   Value
Shareholder % Holding (in thousand euros)
Instituto Español de Comercio Exterior 28.15% 11,089
Instituto	de	Crédito	Oficial	 25.25%	 9,947
Banco	Bilbao	Vizcaya	Argentaria,	S.A.	 21.81%	 8,594
Banco Santander Central Hispano, S.A. 13.73% 5,409
Empresa	Nacional	de	Innovación,	S.A.	 7.63%	 3,005
Banco Sabadell, S.A. 3.43% 1,352
TOTAL 100.00% 39,396

13.2  Legal reserve

Pursuant	to	Article	274	of	the	Spanish	Corporate	Enterprises	Act,	10%	of	companies’	yearly	profit	must	be	earmarked	for	the	
legal reserve until the funds provisioned amount to at least 20% of the share capital. 

Such	funds	may	not	be	distributed	and	if	used	to	offset	losses,	in	the	event	that	other	reserves	are	insufficient	to	cover	this	item,	
they	must	be	replenished	with	future	profits.

On	31	December	2011	and	2010,	the	company	had	not	funded	this	reserve	to	the	minimum	ceiling	established	by	law.

13.3  Voluntary reserve

Voluntary reserves may be drawn on freely.

14. Contingent Assets and Liabilities

The	company,	in	conjunction	with	its	legal	advisers,	has	classified	success	in	a	series	of	proceedings	lodged	primarily	to	claim	
sums outstanding receipt as likely or possible. It has consequently booked a provision for such sums outstanding receipt on 
31	December	2011	and	2010	under	impairment	of	receivables.

15. Financial Liabilities

The	composition	of	the	company’s	financial	liabilities	on	31	December	was	as	stipulated	below.

Thousand euros Bank borrowings Derivatives and others Total
  Non-current Current Non-current Current Non-current Current
Financial	year	2011:	 	 	 	 	 	
Loans and accounts receivable 2,845 690 78 3,270 2,923 3,960
  2,845 690 78 3,270 2,923 3,960
Financial	year	2010:	 	 	 	 	 	
Loans and accounts receivable 2,279 945 56 2,852 2,335 3,797
  2,279 945 56 2,852 2,335 3,797

15.1  Bank borrowings

The	breakdown	of	accounts	payable	to	financial	institutions	on	31	December	is	given	below.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
 Non-current Current Non-current Current
ECIP Programme - 104 - 104
ICO line 2,845 577 2,279 837
Accrued interest payable - 9 - 4
TOTAL 2,845 690 2,279 945
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By virtue of the agreement concluded by the company and the European Union in the framework of the ECIP programme, the 
company	was	given	access	to	a	line	of	credit	to	finance	Spanish	companies’	productive	investment	projects	under	joint	venture	
arrangements	in	countries	included	in	the	programme.	Moneys	could	be	drawn	under	the	above	programme	until	31	December	
1999.	The	balance	shown	covers	two	operations	still	outstanding	and	due	contingent	upon	payment.	COFIDES	has	brought	
action for these operations and negotiated terms with ECIP whereby repayment will depend on the company’s recovery of the 
sums involved.

A	Master	Agreement	on	General	Financing	Conditions	for	“ICO	Lines	2010”	was	concluded	on	11	January	2010	between	Spain’s	
Official	Credit	Institute	(ICO)	and	COFIDES.	The	latter,	in	turn,	adhered	to	the	“Specific	Conditions”	for	the	“ICO	International	
Investment	2010”	line	of	financing	on	1	March	2010.	This	line	was	in	place	through	the	end	of	the	year.

On	23	July	2010,	the	Official	Credit	Institute	(ICO)	and	COFIDES	concluded	a	Multi-currency	Financing	Agreement	with	a	four	
million-euro ceiling. The deadline for drawing on this facility was 22 July 2011.

An	addendum	to	the	ICO-COFIDES	agreement	on	a	multi-currency	line	for	up	to	six	million	euros	was	concluded	on	1	July	2009.	
The	deadline	for	drawing	on	this	line	was	31	May	2010.

On	 8	 December	 2010,	 the	 European	 Financing	 Partners,	 S.A.	 (EFP)	Master	 Investment	 Agreement	was	 formalised	 by	 the	
European	Investment	Bank	(EIB)	and	other	European	Development	Finance	Institutions	(EDFI)	members.	Under	that	Master	
Agreement,	European	Financing	Partners,	S.A.	(EFP)	has	a	financing	capacity	of	235	million	euros.	The	deadline	for	drawing	
on	the	Master	Agreement	for	financial	operations	is	7	December	2012.	On	31	December	2010	and	2011,	no	sums	had	yet	been	
drawn.

A	Master	Agreement	on	General	Financing	Conditions	 for	 “ICO	Lines	2011”	was	concluded	on	 13	 January	between	Spain’s	
Official	Credit	Institute	(ICO)	and	COFIDES.	The	latter,	in	turn,	adhered	to	the	“Specific	Conditions”	for	the	“ICO	International	
Investment	2011”	credit	line	on	that	same	date.	This	line	was	in	place	through	year	end	2011.	

On	27	July	2011,	the	Official	Credit	Institute	(ICO)	and	COFIDES	concluded	a	Multi-currency	Financing	Agreement	with	a	four	
million-euro ceiling. The deadline for drawing on this facility will expire on 26 July 2012.

The	company	uses	the	financing	obtained	from	the	aforementioned	facilities	to	grant	loans	to	eligible	investment	projects.

The	main	figures	on	the	sums	drawn	from	the	ICO	credit	lines	are	listed	below.

Draw 
deadline

Grace period 
ends

Agreement 
expires Year

Sum 
formalised 
(thousand 

euros)

Sum 
drawn 

(thousand 
euros)

Sum 
drawn 

(thousand 
euros)

Reference
interest

rate
Difference 

(%)
Multi-currency
agreement

31 December 2011

2004 Agreement	 14/01/2007	 14/03/2007	 14/03/2012	 2004	 475	 475	 48	 LIBOR	6M	 0.2
2004 Agreement AdIII	 15/05/2008	 14/06/2009	 14/06/2013	 2008	 541	 541	 203	 LIBOR	6M	 0.2
2006-07 Agreement	 30/05/2007	 14/06/2009	 14/06/2014	 2006	 203	 203	 101	 LIBOR	6M	 0.1
2009 Agreement	 14/06/2009	 -	 14/12/2018	 2009	 368	 368	 271	 LIBOR	6M	 0.8
2009 Agreement	 15/06/2009	 14/06/2012	 14/06/2016	 2009	 601	 601	 601	 LIBOR	6M	 0.8
2009 Agreement	 15/06/2009	 14/06/2011	 14/12/2015	 2009	 537	 537	 477	 LIBOR	6M	 0.8
2010 Agreement	 25/05/2011	 24/04/2013	 24/04/2018	 2010	 1,360	 1,360	 1,360	 LIBOR	6M	 2.5
2011 Agreement	 -	 -	 -	 	 -	 -	 -	 LIBOR	6M	 2.5
Total in USD         4,085 4,085 3,062    
Internationalisation
agreement	2007	 21/12/2007	 14/12/2009	 14/12/2014	 2007	 600	 600	 360	 EURIBOR	6M		-0.35
Total in euros         600 600 360    

Total ICO loans         4,685 4,685 3,422    

In	2011	the	company	posted	the	financial	expenses	accruing	for	the	loans	listed	in	the	above	table,	which	amounted	to	59,000	
euros	(39,000	in	2010),	in	the	profit	and	loss	account.
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Sums denominated in foreign currency.

The	breakdown	of	the	total	monetary	financial	liabilities	denominated	in	foreign	currency	(U.S.	dollars)	is	as	shown	below.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
 Non-current Current Non-current Current
ICO line 2,605 457 1,919 720
TOTAL 2,605 457 1,919 720

15.2  Derivatives and others - Loans and accounts receivable

Thousand euros  2011 2010
 Non-current Current Non-current Current
Sundry payables - 179  - 422 
Staff	(remuneration	outstanding)	 -	 475		 -	 488	
Current	taxes	(Note	17)	 -	 2,350		 -	 1,631	
Other	tax	payables	(Note	17)	 -	 178		 -	 219	
Other debts 78  88  56  92 
TOTAL 78  3,270  56  2,852 

“Other	long-term	financial	liabilities”	includes	a	sum	accrued	and	outstanding	payment	to	the	Chamber	of	Commerce	for	years	
2010 and 2011.

15.3 Information on delays in payment to suppliers in trade operations

Pursuant	 to	Act	 15/2010	 of	 5	 July,	 amending	Act	 3/2004	 of	 29	December,	 on	measures	 to	 combat	 delinquency	 in	 trade	
operations, the following list gives the total sum of payments made to suppliers during the year. Payments made outside the 
legal	deferral	periods	are	specified,	along	with	the	weighted	mean	time	that	payments	were	legally	overdue	and	the	balance	
payable to suppliers and overdue at year end.

Payments made and outstanding 2011

payment at closing 2011 Sum (in thousand euros) % 
Within the legal deadline 4,214 
Total payments made in the year 4,214 100%
Weighted	mean	overdue	time	(days)		 26.5	days	 	
Deferred	payments	which	were	overdue	at	closing	 -	

No	payables	outstanding	to	suppliers	were	legally	overdue	at	year	end	2010.

15.4 Classification by maturity date 

The	schedule	of	financial	liabilities	by	maturity	date	is	as	follows:

 2011

Thousand euros 2012 2013 2014 2015 Subsequent years Total
Bank borrowings 690 904 521 387 1,033 3,535
Trade accounts payable  179 - - - - 179
Personnel  475 - - - - 475
Tax payables 2,528 - - - - 2,528
Other debts 88 78 - - - 166
TOTAL 3,960 982 521 387 1,033 6,883

 2010

Thousand euros 2011 2012 2013 2014 Subsequent years Total
Bank borrowings 945 749 669 716 145 3,224
Trade accounts payable  422 - - - - 422
Personnel  488 - - - - 488
Tax payables 1,850 - - - - 1,850
Other debts 92 56 - - - 148
TOTAL 3,797 805 669 716 145 6,132
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16. Short-term Accrual Accounts

On	31	December	2011	the	caption	“Current	liabilities”	included	an	adjustment	entry	for	consultant	fees	charged	to	the	Fund	for	
Foreign	Investment	(FIEX),	billed	but	not	regarded	as	accruing	during	the	year,	in	accordance	with	Provision	Two	of	the	Order	
issued	by	the	Minister	of	the	Economy	and	Finance	on	28	July	1999	(1),	also	known	as	the	FIEX	Rule.

In	addition	to	the	FIEX	adjustment	(370,000	euros),	on	31	December	2010	this	caption	included	109,000	euros	for	customer	
receivables for fees outstanding time period adjustment.

17. Tax Matters

The	breakdown	of	tax	payables	on	31	December	is	shown	below.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
 Non-current Current Non-current Current
Current	taxes	(Note	17.1)	 -	 2,350		 -	 1,631	
Social security - 61  - 59 
Value added tax - 2  - 56 
Withholdings - 115  - 104 
TOTAL - 2,528  - 1,850

According to the existing legislation, tax settlements cannot be regarded as conclusive until audited by the tax authorities or 
until the obligation lapses, i.e., presently after four years. The company’s books are open to audit by tax authorities for the last 
four	years	in	respect	of	all	the	taxes	for	which	it	is	liable.	Neither	its	directors	nor	its	tax	advisers	have	identified	any	material	
contingencies	that	might,	in	the	event	of	an	audit,	induce	conflicting	interpretations	of	the	provisions	of	tax	law	applicable	to	
the company’s operations.

The	result	of	such	conflicting	interpretations	may	be	additional	liabilities.		Nonetheless,	the	company’s	directors	deem	that	in	
the	event,	such	liabilities	would	have	no	material	effect	on	the	financial	statements.

17.1  Tax on earnings

The	 reconciliation	between	 revenues	 less	expenses	and	 the	 tax	base	 (fiscal	earnings)	 for	 the	 intents	and	purposes	of	 the	
corporation tax is shown below.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
Earnings for the year   10,938 10,587
Corporation tax   4,452 5,403
Before tax earnings   15,390 15,990
Permanent	differences	 	 	 10	 -
Temporary	differences	treated	as	if	they	were	permanent	 	 	 (560)	 1,904
Taxable earnings   14,840 17,894
30% tax   4,452 5,368
Adjustments from previous years   - 35
Tax on earnings abroad   - 16
Deductions	for	the	year	 	 	 -	 (16)
Tax on earnings    4,452 5,403

(1) “…If at the end of each financial year, the expenses incurred by the Fund for Foreign Investment’s fund manager in the study and tendering phase 
specified above amount to less than seventy five (75) per cent of the sums accruing thereto for the respective analysis fees laid down in paragraph 
1.a above, fifty (50) per cent of this difference will be held in the fund manager’s account and used to pay fees accruing in subsequent financial 
years. The fund manager may receive no further sums for this item until such surplus has been fully expended…”
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The estimated corporation tax payable is given below.

Thousand euros 2011 2010
Taxable earnings   14,840 17,894
30% corporation tax   4,452 5,368
Deductions	 	 	 -	 (16)
Advance	payments	 	 	 (1,797)	 (3,721)
Withholdings	 	 	 (298)	 -
Taxes	paid	abroad	 	 	 (7)	 -
Corporation tax payable   2,350 1,631

18. Environmental Information

No	significant	assets	were	earmarked	for	environmental	protection	or	improvement	on	31	December	2011	or	2010,	nor	were	any	
relevant expenses incurred under that item during the year.

The	 company’s	 directors	 have	 identified	 no	 significant	 contingencies	 in	 connection	 with	 environmental	 protection	 or	
improvement and consequently deem provisions in this regard to be unnecessary.

No	environment-related	subsidies	were	received	in	2011	or	2010.

19. Revenues and Expenses

19.1  Ordinary and ancillary management revenues

The	company’s	“Operating	revenues”	are	the	fees	earned	for	managing	not	only	the	FIEX	and	FONPYME	funds,	but	also	the	
programmes	and	funds	sponsored	by	multilateral	organisations	(see	Note	1).	They	also	include	revenues	earned	for	managing	
the	MIF	and	EU-EIB	operations.

This	caption	likewise	covers	the	financial	revenues	and	fees	earned	by	the	company	on	the	loans	granted.

The	itemised	list	of	these	amounts,	computed	for	FIEX	and	FONPYME	on	the	grounds	of	the	provisions	of	the	Order	signed	
by	the	Minister	of	Economy	and	Finance	on	28	July	1999,	along	with	the	other	fees	and	interest	earned	on	the	company’s	own	
transactions, is given in the table below.

  Thousand euros
Item  Basis for calculation 2011 2010
Analysis	fees		 1.65%	of	the	investment	proposal	submitted	to	FIEX	 2,149	 1,777
Formalisation	charges	 1%	on	investments	drawn	from	FIEX	and	1.5	%	on	 
	 FONPYME-financed	investments	 1,598	 1,400
Outlay	fees	 1%	of	the	sums	actually	laid	out	by	FONPYME	 93	 58
Management	fees	 1.25%	of	the	value	of	the	FIEX	live	investment	portfolio	 6,292	 5,806
Performance fees 20% of the dividends and other returns actually  
 received by the funds 8,118 14,469
Settlement fees 1.5% of the value of the investment laid out and  
	 actually	repaid	to	FIEX	 2,073	 664
Other	COFIDES	fees	 Fees	other	than	the	FIEX	and	FONPYME	fund	management	fees	 305	 194

Total fees   20,628 24,368

COFIDES	interest	 Financial	revenues	from	interest	on	loans	to	companies	 1,087	 809
Total interest   1,087 809

TOTAL   21,715 25,177
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The	 2011	 “Performance	 fees”	 consist	 primarily	 of	 2.8	 million	 euros	 in	 non-recurrent	 revenues	 accruing	 from	 a	 FIEX	 fund	
divestment.	 In	 2010,	 these	 non-recurrent	 revenues	 amounted	 to	 13.52	 million	 euros,	 the	 result	 of	 two	 FIEX	 fund	 capital	
divestments.

19.2  Personnel expenses 

Personnel expenses are itemised below, in thousand euros.

Thousand euros  2011 2010
Salaries and wages  3,249 3,048
Per	diem	paid	to	members	of	the	company’s	Board	of	Directors		 133	 141
Social security tax  611 549
Other personnel expenses  284 255
TOTAL   4,277 3,993

19.3  External services and other taxes

The	“External	services”	and	“Other	taxes”	accounts	are	itemised	below.

Thousand euros  2011 2010
Publicity, advertising and public relations 190 143
Leases   642 688
Repairs and upkeep  131 105
Independent professional services 1,323 1,509
Insurance premiums  1 1
Training costs  57 64
Travel expenses  388 236
Other expenses  400 397
TOTAL   3,132 3,143
Other taxes  58 47
TOTAL   3,190 3,190

“Independent	professional	services”	primarily	covers	external	consultant	fees	associated	with	projects	 implemented	by	the	
company in 2010 and 2011.

20. Operations with Related Parties 

The related parties with which the company conducted transactions in 2011 and 2010, and the nature of the relationship, are 
listed below.

  Nature of the relationship
FIEX	 	 Fund	managed	by	the	company
FOMIN	 	 Fund	managed	by	the	company
FONPYME	 	 Fund	managed	by	the	company
Instituto	de	Crédito	Oficial	 	 Company	shareholder
Senior management  Board members
  Chairman
	 	 General	Manager
	 	 Chief	Investment	Officer
	 	 Chief	Financial	Officer
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20.1 Related institutions

The balances in the accounts with related institutions is shown below.

Thousand euros
Instituto de 

Crédito Oficial  (ICO) FIEX FONPYME Total

2010

Instituto de 
Crédito Oficial  (ICO) FIEX FONPYME Total

2011

ASSETS:
Long-term financial investments        
Receivables,	Funds	(Note	11.2.1)	 -	 1,401	 -	 1,401	 -	 -	 -	 -
Trade and other receivables        
Receivables,	Funds	(Note	11.2.1)	 -	 8,125	 95	 8,220	 -	 4,154	 72	 4,236
LIABILITIES:	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Long-term payables        
Payable	to	financial	institutions	(Note	15.1)	 2,845	 -	 -	 2,845	 2,279	 -	 -	 2,279
Short-term payables    -    -
Payable	to	financial	institutions	(Note	15.1)	 586	 -	 -	 586	 841	 -	 -	 841

The operations with related institutions are itemised below.

Thousand euros
Instituto de 

Crédito Oficial  (ICO) FIEX FONPYME Total

2010

Instituto de 
Crédito Oficial  (ICO) FIEX FONPYME Total

2011

Net turnover - 19,938 371 20,309 - 23,958 192 24,150
Financial expenses        
Payable	to	financial	institutions	 (59)	 -	 -	 (59)	 (39)	 -	 -	 (39)

20.2 Directors and senior management

During	the	year	ending	on	31	December	2011,	the	company’s	directors	received	remuneration	in	the	form	of	per	diem	for	a	total	
of	133,000	euros	(141,000	in	2010).

Similarly, senior management’s remuneration was as listed below.

   Salaries Other remuneration
Year  No. people Fixed Variable Profit
2011  4 451 107 17
2010 4-5 (*) 446 110 14
TOTAL  897 217 31

(*)	New	General	Manager

The	 books	 showed	 no	 advances	 or	 loans	 to	 any	 of	 its	 directors	 or	managers	 on	 31	December	 2011	 or	 2010,	 nor	 had	 any	
obligations been assumed as security on their behalf. The company has undertaken no pension or life insurance obligations 
for any of its present or former directors.

The	members	of	the	COFIDES,	S.A.	board	of	directors	attest	to	their	compliance	with	the	provisions	of	Articles	229	and	230	
of	 the	Corporate	Enterprises	Act.	Details	 on	 their	 shareholdings,	 positions	or	 duties,	 on	 their	 own	or	 third	 party	 behalf,	 in	
companies	engaging	in	the	same	business	as	COFIDES	are	contained	in	Annex	I	hereto.
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21. Information on Employees

The company’s average headcount in the last two years, broken down by category, is shown in the table below. 

  2011 2010
Directors	 	 13	 13
Managers	 	 16	 13
Junior managers and technicians 34 33
Support	staff	 	 9	 9
TOTAL  72 68

The	distribution	of	company	staff	and	directors	by	sex	is	as	follows:

 2011 2010
 Women Men Total Women Men Total
Directors	 -	 13	 13	 2	 11	 13
Managers	 9	 7	 16	 8	 6	 14
Others 28 14 42 27 15 42
TOTAL 37 34 71 37 32 69

22. Auditors’ Fees

The	fees	paid	in	2011	for	auditing	services	amounted	to	24,500	euros	(33,000	euros	in	2010).

23. Events after the Reporting Period 

No	event	worthy	of	note	that	would	have	any	material	effect	on	the	present	financial	statements	was	forthcoming	between	31	
December	2011	and	the	date	on	which	they	were	prepared	by	the	Board	of	Directors.
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Compañía Española DE FinanCiaCión DEl DEsaRRollo, CoFiDEs, s.a. 

List of company directors’ shareholdings and 
positions in other companies on 
31 December 2011

  No. of  Holding in Position
Director Company shares  per cent and duties

Mr. Francisco Javier Puig Banco de Sabadell, S.A. - <0.005% International Business 
Asensio	 	 	 	 Director
 Banesto - <0.005% -
Mr. José Corral Vallespín	(*)	 Banco	Santander	S.A.	 -	 	<0.005%	 Deputy	General
	 	 	 	 Manager	-	Risk
Mr. Alberto Gómez Nicolau	 Dinners	Club	 -	 -	 Board	member
 Banco Santander, S.A. - >0.01% -
 Santander Factoring - - Board member
Mr. Javier Cruz Veira	 Banco	Bilbao	Vizcaya	Argentaria	 -	 -	 BBVA	Consumer	Finance
	 	 	 	 Manager,	Spain	&	Portugal
Mr. Guillermo Jiménez Gallego	 ICO	Instituto	de	Crédito	Oficial	 -	 -	 Department	Manager
Mr. Salvador Marín Hernández Banco Santander, S.A. 539 - -
	 CAM	 825	 -	 -
	 CAM	(Fondo	Inversión)	 450	 -	 -
Mr. Juan Piera Miquel - - - -
Mr. Rafael Garranzo García - - - -
Mr. Gerardo Gimeno Griñó 
(Instituto	de	Crédito	Oficial	ICO,	 
representative)	 -	 -	 -	 -
Mr. Valentín Laiseca Fernández  
de la Puente - - - -
Mr. Marcos Saldaña Ruiz  
de Velasco - - - -
Mr. Rafael Aguilar Tremoya - - - -
Ms. Begoña Cristeto Blasco
(ENISA	representative)	 Caixa	Capital	Tic,	S.G.R.S.A	 -	 9.68	%	 -
	 Caixa	Biomed,	S.G.R.S.A	 -	 4.54%	 -
 Fondo Axón I F.C.R - 7.92% -
	 INVEREADY	SEED	CAPITAL	S.C.R.	S.A.	 -	 9.96%	 Board	member
	 MONDRAGÓN	PROMOCIÓN	S.P.E.	S.A.	 -	 1%	 -
	 UNINVEST	S.G.E.C.R.	S.A.	 -	 3.13%	 Board	member
	 I+D	UNIFONDO	F.C.R.	 -	 5.4%	 -
	 NEOTEC	CR	Sociedad	de	Fondos,	SCR,	S.A.	 -	 1.09%	 -
	 Banesto-ENISA-SEPI	Desarrollo,	FCR	 -	 33.3%	 -
	 Fondo	GED	Sur,	FCR	 -	 2.04%	 -
	 YSIOS	BIOFUND	I,	FCR	 -	 1.4%	 -
 LUZARO, EFC, S.A. - 4.71% Board member
	 BCNA	EMPRÉN,	S.C.R.,	R.C.,	S.A.	 -	 6.68%	 Board	member
	 XES	IMPULSA	FERROL	10,	F.C.R.	 -	 8.3%	 -
	 FONDO	ENISA-FESPYME-SEPIDES	PARA	 
	 LA	EXPANSIÓN	DE	LA	PYME	F.C.R.	 -	 33.3%	 -
	 AMBAR	VENTURE	CAPITAL	F.C.R.	 
	 de	Régimen	Simplificado.	 -	 42.2%	 Board	member
	 AUDIOVISUAL	AVAL	S.G.R.	 -	 -	 Board	member
	 Valoriza	Servicios	Socio	Sanitarios,	S.L.	 -	 -	 Board	member

(*)	 Related	 parties	 hold	 under	0.005%	 in	Sociedad	Banco	Santander,	 S.A.	 and	 perform	duties	 such	 as	member	 of	 the	Board,	 the	Executive	
Committee	and	Chairman	of	Sociedad	Banesto,	S.A.	Board’s	Risk	Committee	(since	January	2011).
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Compañía Española DE FinanCiaCión DEl DEsaRRollo, CoFiDEs, s.a. 

List of company directors’ shareholdings and 
positions in other companies on 
31 December 2010

  No. of  Holding in Position
Director Company shares  per cent and duties
    
Mr. Francisco Javier Puig Asensio Banco de Sabadell, S.A. - - International Business 
	 	 	 	 Director
Mr. Mariano Ferrer Pascual	 ICO	Instituto	de	Crédito	Oficial	 -	 -	 Deputy	Director
Mr. José Corral Vallespín (*)	 Banco	Santander	S.A.	 -	 <	0.005%	 Deputy	General
	 	 	 	 Manager	-	Risk
Ms. María del Mar Rodrigo     Director,	Business	Partner,
Casanova	 Banco	Bilbao	Vizcaya	Argentaria	 -	 <0.01%	 Private	and	Corporate	Banking
Ms. Remedios Romeo García 	 Banco	Bilbao	Vizcaya
 Argentaria 209 - -
 Banco Santander, S.A. 129 - -
 Bankinter 5 - -
Mr. Alberto Gómez Nicolau	 Dinners	Club	 -	 -	 Board	member
 Banco Santander, S.A. - >0.01% -
 Santander Factoring - - Board member
Mr. Javier Cruz Veira	 Banco	Bilbao	Vizcaya	Argentaria	 -	 -	 Corporate	Product		 	
	 	 	 	 Management	Director
Mr. Guillermo Jiménez Gallego
(ICO	representative)	 ICO	Instituto	de	Crédito	Oficial	 -	 -	 Department	Manager
Ms. María del Carmen Moreno 
Raymundo - - -  -
Mr. José Enrique Gómez Espinar 
(ENISA	representative)	 Caixa	Capital	Pyme	Innovación,	S.A.	 	 9.68	%	 -
 Fondo Axón I F.C.R.  7.92 % -
 LUZARO, EFC, S.A.  4.71 %  Board member
	 Mondragón	Promoción	S.P.E.,	S.A.	 	 1	%	 -
	 Uninvest	S.G.E.C.R.,	S.A.	 	 3.13	%	 	Board	member
	 I+D	Unifondo	F.C.R.	 	 5.4	%	 -
	 NEOTEC	CR	Sociedad	De	Fondos,	SCR,	S.A.	 	 1.09	%	 -
	 Banesto	–	Enisa-	Sepi	Desarrollo,	Fcr	 	 33.3	%	 -
	 Fondo	Ged	Sur,	Fcr	 	 2.04	%	 -
	 Ysios	Biofund	I,	Fcr	 	 1.4	%	 -
 Inveready Seed Capital, Scr, S.A.  9.96 % Board member
	 Bcna	Emprén,	S.C.R.,	R.C.,	S.A.	 	 6.68	%	 Board	member
	 Xes	Impulsa	Ferrol	10,	F.C.R.	 	 8.3	%	 -
 Fondo Enisa-Fespyme-Sepides  
	 Para	La	Expansión	De	La	Pyme	F.C.R.	 	 33.3%	 -
	 Audiovisual	Aval	S.G.R.	 	 -	 Board	member

(*)	 Related	 parties	 hold	 under	0.005%	 in	Sociedad	Banco	Santander,	 S.A.	 and	 perform	duties	 such	 as	member	 of	 the	Board,	 the	Executive	
Committee	and	Chairman	of	Sociedad	Banesto,	S.A.	Board’s	Risk	Committee	(since	January	2011).
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